





Public Laws and Investments Intended to Promote the Use of Medical Expertise in the Diagnosis and Treatment of Child Abuse and Neglect

By Rachel Pardes Berger, Cindy W. Christian and Cathleen Palm

Revised: October 13, 2020. Rachel Berger, MD, MPH is Chief, Division of Child Advocacy, UPMC Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, E-Mail: Rachel.berger@chp.edu Cindy W. Christian, MD, is The Anthony A. Latini Chair in the Prevention of Child Abuse and Neglect at The Children's Hospital of Philadelphia, E-Mail: Christian@email.chop.edu. Cathleen Palm is Founder of the Center for Children's Justice, E-Mail: CPalm@C4CJ.org. For more information, please contact Dr. Berger. We thank Casey Family Programs for supporting this project with funding and technical advice.

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	2
Executive Summary	3
INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND	6
FINDINGS	8
STATE PROFILES OF STATUTES AND STRATEGIES INTENDED TO IMPROVE MEDICAL DIAGNOSIS AND CONSULTATION	13
CONNECTICUT	13
FLORIDA	15
ILLINOIS	18
INDIANA	21
LOS ANGELES	23
MARYLAND	26
MISSOURI	31
NEW JERSEY	33
NORTH CAROLINA	37
OREGON	41
SOUTH CAROLINA	44
TEXAS	47
The Pennsylvania Perspective	52

Executive Summary

Health care professionals, most notably board-certified child abuse pediatricians (CAPs), are essential partners in protecting children. These professionals, when timely and meaningfully engaged by child welfare professionals and law enforcement, provide critical expertise to respond to childhood trauma, and to guard against both under and over-diagnosis of child maltreatment. A missed diagnosis of abuse puts children at risk for continued abuse and further injury; while over-diagnosis may lead to the inappropriate removal of children from their family, as well as civil or criminal court involvement for persons alleged to have abused a child.

Congress has enacted laws, including the Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act (CAPTA) and Victims of Child Abuse Act (VOCAA), which recognize the important and unique role of health care professionals in the accurate identification, diagnosis and treatment of child maltreatment. Some states have enacted laws that set forth, some in great detail, when and how specially-trained health care professionals are to be enlisted by child welfare professionals or law enforcement during a child abuse investigation, and throughout civil and criminal court proceedings.

Despite federal and state laws recognizing the value of health care providers with expertise in child maltreatment, there remains insufficient standardized practice or investment to ensure that children receive timely and appropriate medical evaluations and care. In addition, child welfare professionals and law enforcement often lack access to the expertise of CAPs or another health care provider with specialized training in child maltreatment, and are left to make decisions about child abuse and child safety without knowledge regarding injury epidemiology, injury mechanisms, infant and child development and medical disease that impacts children. Identifying abused children before their injuries are permanent or, in some cases, fatal, requires systems of care and evaluation that are based in best practices and informed by science.

In writing this research brief, the authors examined the statutes and/or administrative policies of eleven states (Connecticut, Florida, Illinois, Indiana, Maryland, Missouri, New Jersey, Oregon, Pennsylvania, South Carolina and Texas) and the City of Los Angeles to understand whether and how child protection statutes or administrative policies:

- 1. Establish an expectation that a child, who was reported as a suspected victim of child maltreatment, is referred for a medical evaluation; and whether there are any added requirements related to children with specific types of injuries or demographics (e.g., infants and toddlers);
- 2. Articulate the specific design of a child abuse medical evaluation and consultation program that utilizes health care providers with specialized training in child maltreatment (e.g., CAPs);
- 3. Identify a designated funding source for medical evaluation and consultation; and
- 4. Create a (state or local) child protection medical director; and if so, what this position is specifically responsible for.

This analysis had these limitations:

- 1. Only 12 jurisdictions were included in the primary analysis. These jurisdictions except for Pennsylvania were chosen because the authors were aware that a medical consultation program existed. Pennsylvania was chosen as an example of a state without a medical consultation program. Ohio was not included in the overall examination of state statute or administrative policies but is discussed in this publication as it relates to Ohio's Timely Recognition of Abusive Injuries (TRAIN) Collaborative.
- 2. Assessing to what degree state or local statute or written policy aligned or conflicted with on-the-ground practice was pursued by an interview with a child abuse pediatrician in each of the 13 jurisdictions. This area deserves further review and analysis.

Our review demonstrates the following:

- Among the 12 medical consultation programs we reviewed, the types of cases included in the programs is highly variable.
- The interaction between the medical consultation programs and the locally operated children's advocacy center (CAC) is highly variable and often difficult to assess, particularly as it relates to physical child abuse.
- In 9 of the 12 jurisdictions with medical consultation programs, specific injuries and/or age of a child triggers a medical evaluation. In each jurisdiction, it appears that the need for the consultation can be over-ridden by the CPS supervisor under certain conditions.
- There are very limited data about the effect of the medical consultation on outcomes (e.g., decrease in re-referrals or re-abuse, reduced trauma for the child, change in diagnosis based on expert opinion from a CAP, a decrease in unnecessary removals). This is particularly important in the current environment in which there have been several publicized articles in the lay press about alleged errors made by CAPs without discussion or comparison to errors made when CAPs are not involved and/or no medical expertise is available.²
- There are limited data about the costs associated with the medical consultation programs. In particular, the per child cost of obtaining this expertise and how it compares to other costs in the child welfare system. In addition, the source of this funding and whether the CAPs are employed by the state or contracted with the state is variable and not always clear. This is particularly important in the current environment in which multiple concerns have been raised about the relationships between CPS and CAPs.³

Based on the information collected as part of this review, listed below are the recommendations for Child Protective Services agencies, child abuse pediatricians, policy makers and others who are responsible for the safety and well-being of children:

1. Work with government agencies to fund research to identify and develop standardized quantifiable outcomes of medical consultation programs. This includes measuring these outcomes and identifying which attributes of the programs are most associated with beneficial outcomes to children and families. When evaluating medical consultation

- programs, encourage comparison to the current practice standard rather than a perfect system without errors.
- 2. Measure the cost of different approaches to medical consultation and evaluate state-level funding mechanisms for sustainable administration of these programs.
- 3. Develop a tool kit for jurisdictions and/or states to assist in development of medical consultation programs, which includes evaluation metrics.
- 4. Monitor and strengthen federal statutes, including the Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act and the Victims of Child Abuse Act, to promote a child's access to and to enhance the quality of specialized medical evaluations during a child abuse investigation.
- 5. Evaluate models of medical directorship for child welfare agencies for states who are interested in establishing robust systems of inter-professional care.

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Child Abuse and Neglect Fatalities Consistently Involve Very Young Children

The number of children who died from child abuse and neglect in federal fiscal year (FFY) 2017 was reported to be 1,720, ⁴ an 11% increase from 2013.⁵ While child abuse and neglect fatalities are still rare, such an increase is notable and concerning.

Child fatalities from maltreatment often involve very young children. In FFY 2017, approximately 50% of these fatalities were in children <1 year of age.⁶ Child maltreatment rates decline with the age. In 2017, children <1 year of age had a fatality rate of 21.92/100,000 compared with 5.72/100,000 for 1-2 years old and 0.61/100,000 for 10-year-olds.⁷

Through the Protect Our Kids Act which was enacted in 2013, Congress created a time-limited National Commission to Eliminate Child Abuse and Neglect Fatalities (CECANF) directing the Commission to study "trends in demographic and other risk factors that are predictive of or correlated with child maltreatment, such as age of the child." In its final report, the CECANF noted that the youngest children who are at highest risk of death from child maltreatment may have the least exposure to mandated reporters. Indeed, health care professionals may be the only mandated reporters who very young children come in contact with.

Accurate and timely recognition of the early signs of child maltreatment is critical to decreasing morbidity and mortality. This is especially true for young children. A significant proportion of children who suffer severe morbidity and/or mortality due to physical abuse had been previously evaluated by physician(s) who did not recognize the abuse.¹⁰ The importance of sentinel injuries - medically minor injuries, such as a bruise or mouth injury, which are associated with a high risk of escalating violence - cannot be overemphasized. In a landmark study by Sheets and colleagues, 27.5% of 200 infants diagnosed with physical abuse had a previous sentinel injury, compared with 8% of 100 infants with intermediate concern for abuse, and 0 of 101 infants without concern for abuse.¹¹ In this study, 66% of the sentinel injuries occurred when the infant was less than 3 months old and medical providers were reportedly aware of the injury in more than 40% of cases.

The American Academy of Pediatrics (AAP) has published evidence-based recommendations for the medical evaluation of children under 2 years of age with suspected physical abuse. ¹² However, despite these evidence-based recommendations, physicians fail to consistently screen and evaluate for abuse even in high-risk situations such as in infants with sentinel injuries. ¹³

In 2015, the AAP updated its clinical guidelines related to the evaluation of suspected child physical abuse. These guidelines addressed the importance of standardized management of sentinel injuries to lessen the likelihood of inappropriately attributing them to non-inflicted or self-inflicted trauma or medical disease.¹⁴

The first comprehensive program specifically designed to improve the recognition and response to sentinel injuries was funded in 2015 by Ohio's Attorney General Mike DeWine. DeWine directed \$1 million to the Ohio Children's Hospital Association (OCHA) to establish TRAIN - the Timely Recognition of Abusive Injuries (TRAIN) Collaborative.

The TRAIN Collaborative was established to (1) Establish a baseline frequency of missed sentinel injuries (2) Develop and disseminate medical interventions to reduce the frequency of missed sentinel injuries and (3) Measure the impact of medical interventions on the frequency of missed sentinel injuries.

The collaborative developed a bundle of care for all infants <6 months old with a sentinel injury who are evaluated in an emergency department. This bundle includes a comprehensive physical examination including examination of the face, mouth, ears, neck, torso, genitals and buttocks, a skeletal survey, a psychosocial assessment and a consultation with a pediatrician. The Data from the TRAIN is in the process of being published. Importantly, the number of children identified as having sentinel injuries in emergency departments participating in TRAIN EDs has quadrupled since the start of the program. A key finding was that of all infants <6 months old who presented with a sentinel injury, 6.8% returned with a second injury within 12 months even with evaluation or intervention for the initial event. Just 38.7% of infants <6 months old in the study cohort had skeletal surveys completed even with the education being provided as part of the initiative. (Jonathan Thackeray, personal communication, 2018). In June 2018, the next phase of TRAIN was launched and focuses on primary care physicians rather than emergency departments.

As discussed in more detail throughout this report, many of the states with programs for obtaining medical expertise include specific recommendations related to sentinel injuries.

Importantly, however, proper identification and evaluation of sentinel injuries is just one step in successfully protecting children. Ensuring that that clinical judgment of health care providers appropriately informs the decisions made by child welfare professionals regarding a child's safety, well-being and permanence is also critically important.

Federal Policy Promotes Access to Medical Expertise, but Significant Hurdles Remain In 1974, The United States Congress enacted the federal Child Abuse Prevention and Treatment Act (CAPTA) recognizing the importance of using multidisciplinary teams to prevent, identify and treat child maltreatment.¹⁹

CAPTA also established a national clearinghouse for information relating to child abuse and neglect with an expectation that this clearinghouse would "maintain, coordinate, and disseminate information on the medical diagnosis and treatment of child abuse and neglect." ²⁰

The Children's Justice Act (CJA) is authorized as part of CAPTA and dictates that \$20 million from the Crime Victims Fund be awarded to assist states in "developing, establishing and operating programs designed to improve the assessment and investigation of cases of suspected child abuse-related fatalities and suspected child neglect-related fatalities."²¹

In addition to CAPTA and CJA funding, Congress enacted the Victims of Child Abuse Act (VOCAA) in 1990. VOCAA provides direct funding for CACs. Since their inception, CACs have largely responded to concerns of child sexual abuse. But in 2018, the National Children's Alliance (NCA) and United States Department of Justice (DOJ) recognized the importance of leveraging the infrastructure and collaborative practices found at CACs to advance a fuller and effective response to non-sexual abuse cases. The publication from the NCA and DOJ entitled *Child Physical Abuse: A Guide to the CAC Response* states that CACs serve "many more victims of child sexual abuse than they do victims of child physical abuse (CPA)" and yet federal data illustrates that "physical abuse is far more common, potentially indicating that CACs without a specialized response to physical abuse may be unequipped to serve a large population of child victims of abuse within their jurisdictions." The Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention (OJJDP) recognizes the importance of medical evaluations stipulating in its 2019 Report to Congress: "Medical evaluations are a critical part of an investigation and are frequently the first step in addressing the physical and emotional trauma of a child victim."

In 2019, members of the United States Senate and House of Representatives introduced the Early Detection to Stop Infant Abuse and Prevent Fatalities Act (S. 1009 and H.R. 2076). The legislation, as introduced, sought to have the federal department of Health and Human Services (HHS) Secretary "establish a demonstration program to award grants to eligible entities in order to test effective practices to improve early detection and management of injuries indicative of potential abuse in infants under the age of 7 months to prevent future cases of child abuse and related fatalities." ²³

In summary, since the enactment of CAPTA forty years ago, Congress has recognized, but not prioritized or adequately invested in or monitored strategies intended to promote collaboration between child protective services, law enforcement and specially trained medical expertise.

FINDINGS

In Table 1 we present rates of child maltreatment by type of child victim in these 13 jurisdictions and nationally. What is striking is both the variability in the rates among states and the lack of apparent correlation with the extent (e.g., local vs. statewide, physical abuse vs all types of abuse) of medical consultation services. There are several potential interpretations of this. The most likely explanation for the variability may lie in the simplest of reasons; there are marked differences both in the way different states define child maltreatment and in the way in which they interpret the child maltreatment definition. For example, Pennsylvania, the state with no medical consultation

program has the lowest victim rate of any state. This is highly unlikely to be because children are the safest, but more likely because the definition of child maltreatment in Pennsylvania is one of the most stringent in the country and the indication rates are among the lowest. Ohio which shares a border with Pennsylvania has one of the highest victim rates and has one of the lowest thresholds for defining child maltreatment.

The lack of correlation with the extent of medical consultation may lie in the fact that most cases of indicated maltreatment are neglect. Medical consultation programs focus almost exclusively on physical abuse. Therefore, even a successful medical consultation program which decreased the rate of physical abuse by 25% would only minimally change the overall rates of maltreatment.

Perhaps most importantly, what this table demonstrates is that we cannot use the victim rates to quantify how successful a medical consultation program is. Instead, we need outcomes which are not based on state definitions of maltreatment. Using medical diagnoses which are independent of state definitions is one approach. Another is to use upstream measures of successful medical evaluation such as the proportion of children under 2 years of age with allegations of physical abuse who have undergone a skeletal survey or the proportion of children with allegations of physical abuse who have been examined by a physician. Determining how to best quantify the impact of medical consultation on child outcome is and using similar measures nationally will be important in order to determine both effectives and cost-effectiveness of different programs.

In Table 2 we summarize four key aspects of responses to child maltreatment: All data are what was publicly discoverable as of November 30, 2019 or was obtained from direct conversations with the physicians providing care in these jurisdictions.

- **1.** Whether there is a medical evaluation and consultation program:
- 2. If there is designated funding for the program
- 3. If specific injuries or age of a child triggers a medical evaluation
- **4.** *If there is a medical director for the program:*

This table seems to demonstrate similarly among the programs with all having designated funding and most having specific injuries which result in medical consultation. But when one looks deeper, it is clear that when you have seen one medical consultation program, you have seen one medical consultation program. There is significant variability within each aspect of the programs. For example, while all programs have designated funding, this funding is highly variable in its total amount, amount per child, its source and what the funding pays for.

In order to compare effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of different medical consultation programs, it will be critical to evaluate the program characteristics in a much more granular way and to have the necessary data available to do this. One the reasons the broad program characteristics were chosen was because these were some of the data which could be obtained consistently for all programs. So the field needs a "taxonomy of program features" – a very clear

breakdown of the major components of medical consultation programs, as well as a summary of where they differ and are most similar. This taxonomy would help evaluations of these programs to be more consistent so that the field might discover which program components are most associated with key outcomes and which types of those components are most lined with positive outcomes.

The next section of this report presents child maltreatment related medical diagnosis and consultation profiles for each of the 13 jurisdictions.

Table 1. Rates of Child Maltreatment by Types of Child Victims

	Tubic 1		viaiti catiliciit b	y Types of Child	Victinis	
		Rate of				
		Children, per				
		1,000 in the				
		Population,	Rate of Child	Rate of Child	Rate of Child	Rate of Child
	Number of	receiving an	Victims of	Victims	Victims	Victims
	Children	Investigation	All Ages	<1 year	1 year of Age	2 years of Age
	Under 18	or Alternative	per 1,000	per 1,000	per 1,000	per 1,000
201724	Years of Age ²⁵	Response ²⁶	children	children	children	children
National	74,312,174	47.1	9.1	25.3	11.7	11.0
		(n=3,501,407)	(n=673,830)	(n=100,457)	(n=46,843)	(n=44,503)
Connecticut	743,826	32.8	11.3	30.4	16.0	14.9
		(n=24,432)	(n=8,442)	(n=1,071)	(n=573)	(n=558)
Florida	4,201,983	70.5	9.5	28.0	14.4	13.5
		(n=296,250)	(n=40,103)	(n=6,314)	(n=3,285)	(n=3,090)
Illinois	2,897,185	46.3	9.9	25.4	14.7	13.2
		(n=134,004)	(n=28,751)	(n=3,900)	(n=2,285)	(n=2,070)
Indiana	1,573,409	103.7	18.6	61.7	24.8	23.1
		(n=163,110)	(n=29,198)	(n=5,092)	(n=2,072)	(n=1,965)
Maryland	1,347,506	24.1	5.6	8.1	6.2	6.0
		(n=32,433)	(n=7,578)	(n=586)	(n=452)	(n=442)
Missouri	1,382,971	50.9	3.3	4.7	4.1	3.8
		(n=70,419)	(n=4,585)	(n=346)	(n=307)	(n=285)
New Jersey	1,979,018	37.6	3.4	8.2	3.9	3.9
		(n=74,455)	(n=6,698)	(n=840)	(n=400)	(n=405)
North Carolina	2,302,346	52.4	3.2	6.8	3.8	3.8
		(n=120,734)	(n=7,392)	(n=818)	(n=467)	(n=462)
Ohio ²⁷	2,605,235	41.5	9.6	25.7	11.0	10.6
		(n=107,992)	(n=24,897)	(n=3,514)	(n=1,526)	(n=1,487)
Oregon	873,619	51.9	12.7	29.9	16.7	15.9
_		(n=45,316)	(n=11,070)	(n=1,395)	(n=780)	(n=754)
Pennsylvania ²⁸	2,664,515	16.1	1.7	2.6	1.6	1.7
-		(n=42,890)	(n=4,625)	(n=361)	(n=220)	(n=245)
South Carolina	1,104,674	62.2	15.5	38.1	21.4	19.8
		(n=68,718)	(n=17,071)	(n=2,195)	(n=1,254)	(n=1,182)
Texas	7,366,039	38.5	8.3	27.0	13.0	11.8
		(n=283,764)	(n=61,506)	(n=10,871)	(n=5,288)	(n=4,855)

Table 2. Key Aspects of Responses to Child Maltreatment

State or County	Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program Operating	There is Designated Funding for the Program	Specific Injuries or Age of Child Triggers Medical Evaluation	Designated Medical Director
Connecticut	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Florida	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Illinois*	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Indiana	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Los Angeles	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Maryland	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Missouri	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
New Jersey	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
North Carolina	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Oregon	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Pennsylvania	No	No	No	No
South Carolina	Yes	Yes	Yes	No
Texas	Yes	Yes	Yes	No

^{*}In Illinois, the medical consultation program is not statewide and is limited to the Chicago area

STATE PROFILES OF STATUTES AND STRATEGIES INTENDED TO IMPROVE MEDICAL DIAGNOSIS AND CONSULTATION

The next section of this report presents data for each of the 13 jurisdictions.

CONNECTICUT

Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes
Medical Director Identified	Yes
Specific Injuries or Age of Child Require Specialized Medical Evaluation	No
Designated Funding for Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes

2017 ²⁹	Number of Children Under 18 Years of Age	Rate of Children, per 1,000 in the Population, Receiving an Investigation or Alternative Response ³¹	Rate of Child Victims of All Ages per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims <1 year per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 1 year of Age per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 2 years of Age per 1,000 children
National	74,312,174	47.1	9.1	25.3	11.7	11.0
		(n=3,501,407)	(n=673,830)	(n=100,457)	(n=46,843	(n=44,503)
)	
Connecticut	743,826	32.832	11.3	30.4	16.0	14.9
		(n=24,432)	(n=8,442)	(n=1,071)	(n=573)	(n=558)

Connecticut operates several Child Abuse Centers of Excellence framed as providing "expert consultation on cases of suspected child abuse or neglect through a variety of venues: weekly child abuse team meetings; directly seeing children and families; reviewing medical records, x-rays, pictures and other materials; or discussing cases in person or by phone" with Department of Children and Families (DCF) staff or community providers.³³

The Child Protection Team at Connecticut Children's Medical Center (CCMC) are "highly skilled professionals" who regularly "collaborate to provide education and support to physicians, nurses and other specialists" and with DCF staff.³⁴ A similar team of specially trained professionals at Yale New Haven Children's Hospital provide assessment and consultation to DCF for children who have been reported as a victim of child abuse.³⁵

In 2014, in response to a troubling upward trend of very young children dying from abuse along with increased knowledge about the importance of identifying sentinel injuries, child abuse pediatricians (CAPs) who had already been serving as a resource to DCF, via case consultation, transitioned to become a real-time resource to staff fielding child abuse hotline calls.³⁶

For nearly three decades, Connecticut's Department of Children and Families (DCF) "has been operating under a consent decree resulting from a class action lawsuit filed in 1989." The Juan F. Federal Court Monitor quarterly provides Connecticut with comprehensive reviews of how the state is progressing in its effort to protect children and finally win approval to exit federal oversight.

The Federal Court Monitor's Exit Plan report covering the period of October 1, 2017 – March 31, 2018 (*Juan F. v. Malloy Exit Plan Status Report*) further acknowledges DCF's contractual relationship with child abuse pediatricians writing, "This service provides an array of expert medical services to children who are suspected of being victims of abuse or neglect and to their families by acting as expert consultants to the Department of Children and Families staff to help ensure the safety and well-being of children."³⁸ This arrangement is cited as providing DCF with expert consultation "regarding child sexual abuse and physical abuse evaluations, which may include comprehensive and specialized medical examinations." The report continues that in state fiscal year (SFY) 2017, "the teams exceeded contract capacity by over 62%, providing over 1300 consults and conducting more than 24 formal trainings" -- with 25% of the consults related to critical incidents and "in over 50% of the consults" a decision by DCF "was modified as a result."

As part of CT's 2018 Annual Progress and Services Report (APSR) submitted to the federal Administration for Children and Families (ACF), DCF cited the state's commitment to Child Abuse Centers of Excellence. These Centers were framed by DCF as enlisting board certified child abuse pediatricians to provide "an array of expert medical services to children who are suspected of being victims of abuse or neglect and to their families by acting as expert consultants to the Department of Children and Families staff to help ensure the safety and well-being of children."³⁹

Connecticut employs a Director of Pediatrics within DCF.⁴⁰ In advertising the position in July 2018, DCF described the Director as a senior management staff member responsible for the "oversight of the agency's pediatric and nursing support for children involved with the Department." ⁴¹ The announcement continued, "the Director of Pediatrics is central to achieving the best possible outcomes for children throughout the state of Connecticut; and for providing leadership over key areas associated with the health needs of children in care while also developing key policy and practice guidelines." ⁴²

FLORIDA

Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes
Medical Director Identified	Yes
Specific Injuries or Age of Child Require Specialized Medical Evaluation	Yes
Designated Funding for Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes

2017 ⁴³	Number of Children Under 18 Years of Age	Rate of Children, per 1,000 in the Population, receiving an Investigation or Alternative Response ⁴⁵	Rate of Child Victims of All Ages per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims <1 year per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 1 year of Age per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 2 years of Age per 1,000 children
National	74,312,174	47.1	9.1	25.3	11.7	11.0
		(n=3,501,407)	(n=673,830)	(n=100,457)	(n=46,843)	(n=44,503)
Florida	4,201,983	70.5	9.5	28.0	14.4	13.5
		(n=296,250)	(n=40,103)	(n=6,314)	(n=3,285)	(n=3,090)

Since 1978, Florida state statute has required multidisciplinary medically led child protection teams (CPTs). The Children's Medical Services Program operating, within the Department of Health, is required to "develop, maintain, and coordinate the services of one or more multidisciplinary child protection teams." ⁴⁶ An "interagency agreement" executed between two separate state-level agencies - Department of Health and Department of Children and Families (DCF) - guides the operations and oversight of the contracted community-based independent CPTs. ⁴⁷

Florida is comprised of sixty-seven counties. In 2018, Child Protective Investigators (CPIs), affiliated with DCF, were responsible for child abuse investigations in 60 counties. In the remaining counties, investigators affiliated with the local sheriff are responsible for investigations. ⁴⁸ Florida reports within Child Maltreatment 2017 that "25 percent of Florida Child Protective Investigations are provided by local county sheriffs." ⁴⁹ CPTs are located within one of fifteen districts identified by DCF with satellite offices and telemedicine utilized so that services are available to all 67 counties. ⁵⁰

Florida child protection directives underscore, "Each CPT's main purpose is to supplement the child protective investigation activities of DCF or designated sheriffs' offices by providing multidisciplinary assessment services to the children and families involved in child abuse and neglect investigations. CPTs may also provide assessments to Community-Based Care (CBC) providers to assist in case planning activities, when resources are available. Information from CPT

assessments are critical in developing the information domains, determining findings and establishing safety actions."51

These medically directed CPTs specialize in diagnostic assessment, evaluation, coordination, consultation, and other supportive services that must be able to provide "specialized diagnostic assessment, evaluation, coordination, consultation, and other supportive services" including:

- "Medical diagnosis and evaluation services, including provision or interpretation of X rays and laboratory tests, and related services, as needed, and documentation of related findings.
- Medical evaluation related to abuse, abandonment, or neglect, as defined by policy or rule of the Department of Health.
- Expert medical, psychological, and related professional testimony in court cases.
- Case staffing to develop treatment plans for children whose cases have been referred to the team. A child protection team may provide consultation with respect to a child who is alleged or is shown to be abused, abandoned, or neglected, which consultation shall be provided at the request of a representative of the family safety and preservation program or at the request of any other professional involved with a child or the child's parent or parents, legal custodian or custodians, or other caregivers. In every such child protection team case staffing, consultation, or staff activity involving a child, a family safety and preservation program representative shall attend and participate." ⁵²

By statute, Florida's Department of Health includes a Statewide Medical Director for Child Protection. This Medical Director must be a board-certified pediatrician. Among the duties of the Medical Director is to serve on a legally required "advisory committee" that conducts an independent review of the work and resulting reports related to multiagency investigations of certain child death and other critical incidents.

By statute, each CPT is led by a medical director, who is a board-certified physician in pediatrics or family medicine and has obtained a "subspecialty certification in child abuse from the American Board of Pediatrics" or met "minimum requirements established by a third-party credentialing entity recognizing a demonstrated specialized competence in child abuse pediatrics."⁵³

Referrals to the CPT are required when the report involves a child presenting with:

- "Injuries to the head, bruises to the neck or head, burns, or fractures in a child of any age;
- Bruises anywhere on a child 5 years of age or under;
- Any report alleging sexual abuse of a child;
- Any sexually transmitted disease in a prepubescent child;
- Reported malnutrition of a child and failure of a child to thrive;
- Reported medical neglect of a child;
- Any family in which one or more children have been pronounced dead on arrival at a
 hospital or other health care facility, or have been injured and later died, as a result of

- suspected abuse, abandonment, or neglect, when any sibling or other child remains in the home; or
- Symptoms of serious emotional problems in a child when emotional or other abuse, abandonment, or neglect is suspected."54

The CPT must perform a "timely review" of each report to determine if a face-to-face evaluation is warranted. This evaluation may be waived if the child has been examined by a physician who is not a member of the CPT, but that physician has consulted the CPT. It can also be waived at the discretion of the child protective investigator and supervisor, when these professionals have conducted a child safety assessment and determine that there "are no indications of injuries" which are defined in statute as requiring an evaluation.⁵⁵

Conflicts between the CPT's "findings and recommendations" and the DCF investigator or the Sheriff's department are addressed through written operating procedures." ⁵⁶ If the conflict cannot be resolved at the local level, the issue is reviewed by the Statewide Medical Director.

Florida publishes a comprehensive array of statistics related to child welfare displayed on an interactive dashboard, but none appear related to children referred to and receiving a face-to-face evaluation with a CPT.⁵⁷

In 2019, Florida's state budget directed that \$1.5 million of the \$23.8 million in state and federal funding appropriated for medical services for abused/neglected children be provided to CPTs "to address the increase in workload related to mandatory medical neglect cases, psychological assessments, and trauma assessments." ⁵⁸

Distinct from funding for CPTs, Florida's budget also supports children's advocacy centers (CACs).

ILLINOIS

Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes*
	*not statewide
Medical Director Identified	No
Specific Injuries or Age of Child Require Specialized Medical Evaluation	Yes*
	*not statewide
Designated Funding for Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes
	*not statewide

2017 ⁵⁹	Number of Children Under 18 Years of Age	Rate of Children, per 1,000 in the Population, receiving an Investigation or Alternative Response ⁶¹	Rate of Child Victims of All Ages per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims <1 year per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 1 year of Age per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 2 years of Age per 1,000 children
National	74,312,174	47.1	9.1	25.3	11.7	11.0
		(n=3,501,407)	(n=673,830)	(n=100,457)	(n=46,843)	(n=44,503)
Illinois	2,897,185	46.3	9.9	25.4	14.7	13.2
		(n=134,004)	(n=28,751)	(n=3,900)	(n=2,285)	(n=2,070)

In 2001, the state of Illinois contributed \$1 million to launch the Multidisciplinary Pediatric Education and Evaluation Consortium (MPEEC) with a goal of eventually providing a "statewide network of physicians skilled in and dedicated to the detection, diagnosis and legal follow-up of abuse and to make this expertise readily available to all hospitals and child protective services throughout Illinois.⁶² The 2001 investment, which was championed by a Republican legislative leader and the Director of the state's Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS), was authorized toward establishing "a national standard for the medical evaluation of neglected or injured children."

In 2019, MPEEC remains a partnership among University of Chicago Medicine Comer Children's Hospital, Illinois DCFS, the Chicago Police Department and John H. Stroger, Jr. Hospital of Cook County, facilitating access to child abuse medical consultation for children under the age of three in Chicago who have been reported for serious physical abuse.⁶³ DCFS Procedures Manual governing the response to reports of child abuse and neglect specifies that MPEEC serves children in Chicago (and is available for second opinions in Cook County) when the child presents with allegations specific to head trauma; bone fractures, internal injuries, cuts or bruises or welts when the child presents to a MPEEC hospital.⁶⁴

Within its 2019 Annual Progress and Services Report submitted to the federal government, Illinois DCFS wrote, "For FY18 to date there have been 213 cases, minus 2 second opinions, for a total of 221 MPEEC assessments completed so far this year." 65

Jill Glick, MD, MPEEC's medical director and the director of Child Advocacy and Protective Services at University of Chicago Medicine Comer Children's Hospital joined with some of her colleagues, following several high-profile child deaths, to publish a letter in The Chicago Tribune in April 2019 urging expansion of MPEEC across all of Illinois. They wrote, "Building the needed medical resource and bridges among child welfare, law enforcement and medical experts will save lives." They also urged policy makers to "reinstitute a division at DCFS dedicated to serious harms and medically based allegations" and to "medicalize the child welfare system. There must be medical experts involved in the development of investigational procedures and a full-time medical director with DCFS who is a child abuse pediatrician."

The observations and advocacy put forth by Glick and her colleagues echoed those made by The Illinois Children's Justice Task Force, which is a multidisciplinary advisory group created in statute that charged with advising Illinois DCFS on improving child abuse investigations. In 2016, The Task Force, noted how there were a few "medically-directed" child abuse evaluation programs, "but not enough to ensure necessary access for all children reported for serious child abuse." ⁶⁶ The Task Force then recommended:

"Create a statewide network of pediatric child abuse and neglect medical centers of excellence and develop telemedicine for low-density areas where immediate access is not possible, to ensure access to medical review, intervention, and oversight in severe child abuse investigations. DCFS shall create an internal leadership position with pediatric child abuse and neglect forensic medical expertise and oversee this network."

In advocating for "unit-based multidisciplinary teams," the Task Force noted the wisdom of such a concept being enlisted in all cases but balanced that with political and fiscal realities. Instead they suggested that there be established priorities:

- Allegations of serious physical injury to children under 3 years old,
- Neglect cases where there is a medical concern for the child (e.g., medical neglect, neglect of a disabled infant, nonorganic failure to thrive, and/or malnutrition),
- Child sexual abuse for children under 18 years old, and
- Allegations involving child victims with diagnosed developmental disabilities.

DCFS procedural guidelines outline when child protection staff are required to obtain a medical exam (unless the requirement has been waived by a child protection supervisor). A medical examination is not able to be waived if the alleged child is an infant, non-verbal (regardless the age); or has a developmental delay. Among the types of allegations triggering a medical examination: head injuries, burns, bone fractures, cuts, bruises, welts, abrasions and oral injuries, medical neglect, malnutrition.⁶⁷

A 2018 funding announcement set forth \$771,852 in available funding for MPEEC.⁶⁸ The funding announcement noted there are "five types of service provision by the MPEEC hospitals" that would be supported the funding. They include:

- Onsite consultation by a child abuse pediatrician for any child presenting to a MPEEC hospital with suspected child maltreatment;
- Onsite MPEEC interdisciplinary team response to mandated cases for children, age 0-36
 months, with injuries described in this agreement led by a CPT which is headed by a child
 abuse pediatrician;
- Offsite mandated cases for children, age 0-36 months, with injuries described in this contract that reside in Chicago (Lurie and Comer only);
- Second opinion cases, which are requested by DCFS for medical expertise (Lurie and Comer only);
- Education and consultation to DCFS, law enforcement, and non-MPEEC medical providers."

Illinois was the first state to appoint a Medical Director for DCFS appointing a board-certified pediatrician to the position in 1993 who served until her death in 2018.⁶⁹ As of November 2019, DCFS' organizational chart doesn't appear to illustrate inclusion of a Medical Director.⁷⁰

INDIANA

Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes
Medical Director Identified	No
Specific Injuries or Age of Child Require Specialized Medical Evaluation	Yes
Designated Funding for Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes

201771	Number of Children Under 18 Years of Age	Rate of Children, per 1,000 in the Population, receiving an Investigation or Alternative Response ⁷³	Rate of Child Victims of All Ages per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims <1 year per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 1 year of Age per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 2 years of Age per 1,000 children
National	74,312,174	47.1	9.1	25.3	11.7	11.0
		(n=3,501,407)	(n=673,830)	(n=100,457)	(n=46,843)	(n=44,503)
Indiana	1,573,409	103.7	18.6	61.7	24.8	23.1
		(n=163,110)	(n=29,198)	(n=5,092)	(n=2,072)	(n=1,965)

In May 2008, The Indiana Department of Child Services (DCS) announced that it had entered into a "partnership" with the Indiana University (IU) School of Medicine/Riley Hospital to secure real-time medical consultation for children who were reported as victims of suspected abusive head trauma.⁷⁴ The partnership became known as the Pediatric Evaluation and Diagnostic Services (PEDS) Program.

Referrals for the PEDS program were initiated by DCS toward leveraging a "collaborative resource to accurately identify abusive head trauma versus accidental injury."⁷⁵ When the PEDS program was created, the Riley Hospital PEDS team included five child abuse pediatricians (CAPS) along with a nurse and a social worker. By 2013, the PEDS program had expanded "to include cases involving fractures and burns in children less than 3 years of age."⁷⁶

As of November 15, 2019, Indiana's Child Welfare Policy Manual stipulated:

"It is mandatory to complete a PEDS referral for all children less than six (6) years of age with an allegation of suspected abuse or neglect involving the head or neck (e.g. facial bruising, scratches and red "marks" on the face/neck; mouth injuries, eye injuries, head bleeds, skull fractures and a fracture or burn involving the head/neck) and all children less than three (3) years of age with allegations of suspected abuse or neglect resulting in fractures or burns or suspected fractures or burns. All intake reports with suspected injury to the head or neck of a child, as well as, fractures and burns regardless

of age will be identified in the case management system with a denotation of "PEDS allegation is included in this Report".⁷⁷

Indiana's profile within Child Maltreatment 2017 underscores that the state "does not screen out reports that allege abuse or neglect against a child that is under the age of 3."⁷⁸

Through the PEDS Program, there are standardized referral forms that seek information about injuries and the medical testing (e.g., skeletal survey, head CT, blood work) completed by the referring party. Also to be disclosed by the referring party is any prior history the child has had with the child welfare agency, any known previous injuries, and whether the child has any siblings and whether these siblings have received a medical evaluation.

A Case Consultation Outcome form is used for each referral and documented is if the report was substantiated as child abuse or if the child was initially placed out-of-home and if so whether such placement continues.⁸⁰ Also captured on the form is feedback as to whether the "consultation" proved helpful to the referring party.

DCS' 2015-2019 Child and Family Services Plan (CFSP) indicated that the state intended "to expand and update the PEDS program contract." The exact costs and contractual details for the PEDS Program were not able to be found.

Also, there was no documentation discovered to suggest Indiana has authorized or funded a medical director.

LOS ANGELES

Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes
Medical Director Identified	Yes
Specific Injuries or Age of Child Require Specialized Medical Evaluation	Yes
Designated Funding for Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes

Since 2006, Los Angeles County has operated Medical Hubs described as a mechanism "to provide high-quality coordinated health care for children who touch the child welfare system."⁸¹ Among the services available through the Hubs: "medical assessments of suspected child abuse or neglect" and "comprehensive medical exams for children entering out-of-home care."⁸²

In 2014, the Medical Hubs were spotlighted by a Blue-Ribbon Child Protection Commission which raised concerns that there was "inadequate access to medical and mental health services". ⁸³ This Commission reinforced, "the Hubs do not have sufficient resources to implement these services." The Commission recommended, "All of the Hubs need immediate support to align them with their original goals." Among the original goals of the HUBs was to ensure children were connected to a "forensic evaluation" based on a referral by DCFS or law enforcement so that specially trained medical professionals can undertake an "assessment of suspected child physical abuse, sexual abuse or neglect." ⁸⁴ The Hubs' mission was described as providing DCFS "with expert medical opinion to inform investigations of suspected child abuse and neglect as well as improve medical care for children in the system." ⁸⁵

In 2016, the Los Angeles County Child Death Review Team (CDRT) stressed the importance of the Medical Hubs recommending:

"A hotline number and/or protocol should be established for CSW's to contact a HUB Child Abuse expert 24/7 to consult when there is a concern about a child's medical condition or a medical opinion."86

The CDRT wrote, "Workers rely on medical professionals' opinion of whether trauma was unintentional, inflicted, accidental or a medical condition." They also noted, however, that the child's "treating medical professional may not have the knowledge and experience of a child abuse expert" including situations in which "sentinel injuries mimicked symptoms of illness that were missed by the treating medical professional."

As of November 2019, seven Medical Hubs operate in Los Angeles County. Six are operated by the Los Angeles County Department of Health Services, and one by Children's Hospital Los Angeles.⁸⁷ Los Angeles County's Child Welfare Policy Manual describes the medical hub system as "a partnership" between the Department of Health Services, the Department of Mental Health (DMH),

and the Department of Children and Family Services (DCFS).⁸⁸ Among the populations to be served by a Medical Hub: "Children who are in need of a forensic evaluation to determine abuse and/or neglect who are under DCFS referral or case status."⁸⁹

According to the county's Child Protection Policy Manual, a forensic evaluation may be authorized "when there are allegations of physical or sexual abuse, including during an emergency response investigation and/or when the child has been placed in protective custody."90 Prior to such an evaluation, the child welfare worker "must consult with a medical provider who has specialized training in detecting, and treatment of, child abuse injuries and child neglect (Specialist)."91 It is this specialist who determines if a physical examination is "appropriate". If such an examination is then it must be "performed by a specialist."92

The Manual sets forth that a referral for a medical evaluation "will be accepted and scheduled" in the following circumstances, "regardless of other case circumstances":

- "All children who are alleged victims of child abuse or neglect and are under the age of five (5), or are non-verbal, or have been unable/unwilling to communicate with the CSW about allegation(s).
- Any case in which the referring CSW communicated to Medical Hub intake staff that he/she feels the child should be seen.
- Any child for whom a detention decision is being made based on a current physical finding, but an examination or consultation by a trained forensic examiner has not occurred."93

In 2019 following the death of a 4-year-old child, the Los Angeles Board of Supervisors directed the county's Office of Child Protection (OCP) to lead a review of the child's death. Among the areas to be reviewed: "An update on the assessment of the existing use of the Medical Hubs County-wide, including efficacy of services and effective collaboration between and among the departments of Health, Mental Health, Public Health, and Children and Family Services to support the needs of children and families involved in child protective services."⁹⁴ On August 30, 2019, the Executive Director of the OCP noted that a "detailed workplan" had been formulated to improve the HUB system, including related to forensic exams. The OCP's memo to supervisors also noted that there were efforts to identify "common language" between forensic medical providers and social workers. Also, Los Angeles DHS had outreached to a national network of child abuse pediatricians "to confirm best practices".

The HUBs receive public funding, but it was difficult to determine the exact amount of such funding particularly with specificity regarding up-front medical evaluations within the context of a child abuse investigation. Expansion of the Medical Hubs, notably a \$10.6 million investment and 87 positions, was among highlights cited by county officials in announcing "child protection system improvements" within the 2019-2020 budget.⁹⁵

Los Angeles created a Medical Director in 2003 in order "to coordinate and monitor the medical and psychiatric treatment of children under DCFS care." 96

MARYLAND

Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes
Medical Director Identified	Yes
Specific Injuries or Age of Child Require Specialized Medical Evaluation	Yes
Designated Funding for Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes

2017 ⁹⁷	Number of Children Under 18 Years of Age	Rate of Children, per 1,000 in the Population, receiving an Investigation or Alternative Response ⁹⁹	Rate of Child Victims of All Ages per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims <1 year per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 1 year of Age per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 2 years of Age per 1,000 children
National	74,312,174	47.1	9.1	25.3	11.7	11.0
		(n=3,501,407)	(n=673,830)	(n=100,457)	(n=46,843)	(n=44,503)
Maryland	1,347,506	24.1	5.6	8.1	6.2	6.0
		(n=32,433)	(n=7,578)	(n=586)	(n=452)	(n=442)

In 2005, the Maryland General Assembly established a Child Abuse and Neglect Center of Excellence Initiative within the Department of Health. The purpose of the initiative was to:

- 1. Improve the protection of children in Maryland;
- 2. Recruit local physicians to gain clinical expertise in the diagnosis and treatment of child abuse and neglect;
- 3. Develop and guide the practice of local or regional multidisciplinary teams to improve the assessment and treatment of children who are the subject of a child abuse or neglect investigation or a child in need of assistance;
- 4. Facilitate the appropriate prosecution of criminal child abuse and neglect; and
- 5. Provide expert consultation and treatment in physical child abuse and neglect and sexual abuse through teleconferencing and onsite services."

The law directed that by 2007, the governor "must include" an appropriation in the state budget for the initiative. The Secretary of Health was required to "appoint and convene an expert panel on child abuse and neglect relating to research and data collection at least once each year."

In 2008, Maryland lawmakers reworked the statute replacing the Center of Excellence language with the Child Abuse Medical Providers (CHAMP) Network of Maryland. ¹⁰¹ Today, Maryland's Department of Health states that the "goal" of CHAMP "is to help develop medical expertise related to child maltreatment in every Maryland jurisdiction." ¹⁰² It is seen as a "valuable resource" in "evaluating suspected abuse or neglect in children, providing consultation and training to community professionals, and engaging in prevention activities." The Maryland Department Health

contracts with the School of Medicine at the University of Maryland to administer the CHAMP Program.

The program is led by Howard Dubowitz, MD, MS, FAAP, Professor and Division Head, Child Protection Division, Department of Pediatrics University of Maryland School of Medicine. Beyond Dubowitz, the CHAMP faculty include six physicians and one nurse. Physician faculty must be licensed in Maryland, be board-certified in child abuse pediatrics and have at least five years of experience conducting child abuse evaluations. CHAMP faculty:

- 1. "Assist local and regional jurisdictions to develop standards and protocols for the composition and operation of local or regional Child Abuse Medical Providers (Maryland CHAMP);
- 2. Provide training and consultation to local or regional providers in the diagnosis and treatment of child abuse and neglect;
- 3. Provide financial support to part-time local and regional expert clinic staff for the diagnosis and treatment of child abuse and neglect;
- 4. Collaborate with local or regional child advocacy centers and forensic nurse examiner programs; and
- 5. Help assure that medical professionals have access to information on how to cooperate with local departments of social services, child advocacy centers, and local law enforcement officers to:
 - Protect children from trauma during the process of child abuse and neglect investigations and prosecutions;
 - Minimize the number of times each is interviewed and examined; and
 - Minimize the potential for influencing a child's statement."

By statute, CHAMP's broader network of health care professionals is expected to have the expertise to "address the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of child abuse and neglect while working closely with other disciplines and organizations addressing these issues, including child advocacy centers." The earlier enacted purposes remained intact when the 2008 statutory change occurred. The only slight reworking was made to number three: "Develop and guide the practice of local or regional multidisciplinary teams to improve the **MEDICAL** assessment and treatment of children who are the subject of a child abuse or neglect investigation or a child in need of assistance."

While state statute does not set forth a requirement of when children are to be referred for medical evaluation, the Family Law statute addresses "emergency medical treatment" defined as "medical or surgical care" rendered in a health care facility or child advocacy center in order to 104:

- 1. "To relieve any urgent illness, injury, severe emotional distress, or life-threatening health condition; or
- 2. To determine the existence, nature, or extent of any possible abuse or neglect."

Expert child abuse or neglect care" provided for the "diagnosis and treatment" of child abuse is to be provided by the following people:

- physician;
- multidisciplinary team or multidisciplinary team member;
- health care facility; or
- staff member of a health care facility who is an expert in the field of abuse and neglect.

Telemedicine is recognized, as an option, "if appropriate" toward achieving "a timely expert diagnosis of child abuse or neglect."

Maryland law authorizes the establishment of a 23-member State Council on Child Abuse and Neglect (SCCAN) with one member required to be "a pediatrician with experience in diagnosing and treating injuries and child abuse and neglect, who shall be appointed by the Governor from a list submitted by the Maryland chapter of the American Academy of Pediatrics." ¹⁰⁵ SCCAN serves as one of the state's (federally required) Citizen Review Panels. ¹⁰⁶ SCCAN annually issues a report. SCCAN's most recent annual reports have addressed CHAMP and "expert medical evaluations" with the Council noting that "CHAMP providers see a very small proportion of the children reported to Child Protective Services" ¹⁰⁷

The Council acknowledged "multiple studies" that have determined "that poor and minority children are more likely to have accidental injuries misidentified as abuse, while non-poor and white children are more likely to have abusive injuries misidentified as accidental." This problem "may be exacerbated" when health care professionals "without child welfare expertise or child welfare workers without health care expertise are determining whether a child has been abused or neglected."

The Council's 2016 report (issued in June 2017) addressed "expert medical evaluations." The Council stipulated, "The current systems for providing healthcare services to Maryland children involved in the child welfare system (abuse/neglect investigations & foster care) are inadequate. This report reiterated that the 2015 report "laid out the argument for the need for reform of health care provisions to children involved in child welfare." The Council then wrote, "While the recommendations to date have gone unaddressed, the Council continues to advocate for a centralized system to provide expert forensic and health care coordination to children involved in child welfare."

It renewed the call for Maryland to develop a "centralized system for providing forensic and medical services to children involved in the child welfare system." Policy makers were urged to "fund each component" of such a centralized system:

- Management by a physician Health Director within the Maryland Department of Human Resources' Social Services Administration:
- Oversight and policy development by an Interagency Child Welfare Health Coordination Expert Panel;

• A system for tracking and improving health outcomes; including fatalities and near fatalities due to child maltreatment

Maryland has issued "referral guidelines" intended to help child welfare and law enforcement "decide when to seek medical consultation for suspected child abuse and neglect." With regard to physical abuse, certain conditions "should be medically evaluated urgently (within 12-24 hours)":

- Bruising in an infant who cannot "cruise" (walk holding onto objects)
- Any suspicious bruising on a child who is less than three years old or developmentally delayed
- Small, localized burns (cigarette, iron) that newly or recently occurred

Other conditions should be medically evaluated within 48 hours and include:

- Suspicious bruising in a child over 3 years old and developmentally normal
- Pattern bruise marks
- Healing localized burns (cigarette, iron)

Where a referral to a "child abuse specialist" is not possible then "photographs should be obtained and reviewed by child abuse specialist." Child welfare caseworkers and law enforcement are urged to "consider evaluation by a child abuse specialist" for:

- "Follow-up of any child with an inconclusive hospital evaluation for physical abuse
- Siblings of a child who has been physically abused, according to the following guidelines:
- Siblings under the age of 3 must receive a medical evaluation by a child abuse specialist
- Strongly consider requesting skeletal survey for infants less than one year, strongly consider head CT
- Siblings 3-6 years old—strongly consider medical evaluation by either Child Abuse Pediatrician or child's primary care practitioner
- Siblings 6-10 years old—consider medical evaluation based on concerns raised by child and/or caregivers, school, etc."

Addressing child neglect, the guidelines note, "There are many circumstances when the assessment and management of child neglect can be enhanced with medical consultation by a physician specialist in child abuse and neglect." It is further noted, "In general, such consultation is not urgent as neglect reflects patterns of inadequate care or children's needs not being met over time. Nevertheless, it is helpful if the consultation is sought early during the assessment." The guidelines conclude, "In most situations, a physical examination is not needed for the consultation."

Maryland Children's Trust Fund is the funding source for CHAMP.¹¹⁰ The state's CTF benefits from revenue generated when an individual purchases a birth certificate for a cost of \$30, with \$15 of that fee then directed to the CTF for CHAMP.¹¹¹ Statute stipulates, "To the extent possible, the

Governor shall include in the annual State budget funds for the payment of emergency medical treatment for children examined or treated under this section."¹¹²

In 2019, the Maryland Department of Human Services sought to recruit a State Medical Director for Children Receiving Child Welfare Services with the job description indicating that the individual would be responsible for advising on and facilitating health care coordination for children in out-of-home-placement.¹¹³

MISSOURI

Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes
Medical Director Identified	No
Specific Injuries or Age of Child Require Specialized Medical Evaluation	Yes
Designated Funding for Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes

2017114	Number of Children Under 18 Years of Age	Rate of Children, per 1,000 in the Population, receiving an Investigation or Alternative Response 116	Rate of Child Victims of All Ages per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims <1 year per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 1 year of Age per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 2 years of Age per 1,000 children
National	74,312,174	47.1	9.1	25.3	11.7	11.0
		(n=3,501,407)	(n=673,830)	(n=100,457)	(n=46,843)	(n=44,503)
Missouri	1,382,971	50.9	3.3	4.7	4.1	3.8
Missouri	, ,-					

Since 1989, Missouri has operated and funded the SAFE-CARE (Sexual Assault Forensic Examination-Child Abuse Resource and Education) Network providing training "to physicians and nurse practitioners in the medical evaluation of alleged victims of child sexual abuse, physical abuse, and neglect." Administered by the Missouri Department of Health and Senior Services, the "primary objective" of the network is "to provide comprehensive, state-of-the-art medical evaluations to alleged child victims in their own communities."

The Department of Health and Senior Services (DHSS), MO HealthNet Division (MHD), Department of Public Safety (DPS) and Children's Division (CD) are partners in the SAFE-CARE Network." Missouri KidsFirst "manages" the SAFE-CARE network and describes the Network as a mechanism "to provide every abused child easy access to quality and compassionate medical care to ensure their own health and safety through proper diagnosis and treatment." This medical care by a SAFE-CARE provider is often scheduled at a children's advocacy center (CAC).

Missouri KidsFirst routinely works with "child abuse pediatricians to develop training to ensure that current providers maintain the standards of the SAFE-CARE network as established by the SAFE-CARE Advisory Council." The network includes "pediatricians, family practice physicians, and nurse practitioners. Members encompass a wide range of experience, from urban to rural, small private practice to large children's hospitals" with each playing a "valuable role in providing a coordinated multidisciplinary response to child maltreatment in Missouri."

A 2016 statutory change mandated that when a report of child abuse or neglect involves a child three years of age or younger and "merits an investigation" then the investigation "shall include an evaluation of the child by a SAFE CARE provider." Outside a direct evaluation, the child's "case file and photographs of the child's injuries" are to be reviewed by a SAFE CARE provider.

If a SAFE CARE provider "makes a diagnosis" that the young child "has been subjected to physical abuse, including but not limited to symptoms indicative of abusive bruising, fractures, burns, abdominal injuries, or head trauma" then the children's division "shall immediately submit a referral to the juvenile officer."

Missouri's state budget covering the period July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2019 included \$250,000 for the SAFE-CARE Program with the appropriated funding to be utilized for "implementing a regionalized medical response to child abuse, providing daily review of cases of children less than four years of age under investigation by the Missouri Department of Social Services, Children's Division and to provide medical forensics training to medical providers and multi-disciplinary team members." The state budget also included funding designated for CACs, which is where many SAFE-CARE providers evaluate children.

NEW JERSEY

2017121	Number of Children Under 18 Years of Age	Rate of Children, per 1,000 in the Population, receiving an Investigation or Alternative Response ¹²³	Rate of Child Victims of All Ages per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims <1 year per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 1 year of Age per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 2 years of Age per 1,000 children
		47.1	9.1	25.3	11.7	11.0
National	74,312,174	(n=3,501,407)	(n=673,830)	(n=100,457)	(n=46,843)	(n=44,503)
		37.6	3.4	8.2	3.9	3.9
New Jersey	1,979,018	(n=74,455)	(n=6,698)	(n=840)	(n=400)	(n=405)

Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes
Medical Director Identified	No
Specific Injuries or Age of Child Require Specialized Medical Evaluation	Yes
Designated Funding for Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes

Enacted in 1998 and amended in 2006, New Jersey statute sets forth an expectation that the New Jersey Commissioner of Human Services "shall establish four regional diagnostic and treatment centers for child abuse and neglect affiliated with medical teaching institutions in the State that meet the standards adopted the commissioner." These centers were expected to "have experience in addressing the medical and mental health diagnostic and treatment needs of abused and neglected children in the region in which it is located." New Jersey now supports six state-designated regional diagnostic and treatment centers (RDTCs), two of which operate as satellites. One RTDC - The CARES Institute - indicates it provides "nearly 1,400 comprehensive child abuse medical evaluations annually." Page 120 per 120 p

Regional Center	Counties Served 127
Audrey Hepburn Children's House	5 - Bergen, Hudson, Morris, Passaic, Sussex
St. Joseph's Children's Hospital (Satellite Office)	1 -Passaic
Metropolitan Regional Diagnostic and Treatment Center (located at Children's Hospital of New Jersey at Newark Beth Israel Medical Center)	1 - Essex
Dorothy B. Hersh Child Protection Center (located at The Children's Hospital at St. Peter's University Hospital)	8 - Hunterdon, Mercer, Middlesex, Monmouth, Ocean, Somerset, Union, Warren
Jersey Shore University Medical Center (Satellite Office located at K. Hovnanian Children's Hospital)	2-Monmouth, Ocean
NJ Child Abuse Research Education & Service (NJ CARES) Institute	7 - Atlantic, Burlington, Camden, Cape May, Cumberland, Gloucester, Salem

A 2015 request for proposal to award funding for regional centers stipulated that New Jersey recognizes ¹²⁸:

"A need to ensure that all children with suspected abuse or neglect are examined and treated in a trauma informed setting with the experience and expertise to support children and families. Access to medical and mental health professionals who specialize in child abuse and neglect is essential to our work and assists in helping:

- A child victim receive appropriate follow up care and treatment;
- The child welfare agency in developing a plan to ensure the child is protected and that no further maltreatment takes place;
- Law enforcement with prosecution; and,
- The courts with expert guidance for decision-making."

Statute requires that these centers be multidisciplinary in the work and include (at a minimum) the following staff members: a pediatrician, a consulting psychiatrist, a psychologist and a social worker. Each of these staff are to be "trained to evaluate and treat children who have been abused or neglected and their families." State law further requires that at least one staff member "have an appropriate professional credential or significant training and experience in the identification and treatment of substance abuse."

The centers are to have a "liaison" with both the district offices of the Division of Youth and Family Services (DYFS) and county prosecutor offices. The purpose of such centers includes:

- "Evaluate and treat child abuse and neglect;
- Serve as resources for the region and develop additional resources within the region;
- Provide training and consultative services; and
- be available for emergency phone consultation 24 hours a day."

Also, they should serve as a "source for research and training for additional medical and mental health personnel dedicated to the identification and treatment of child abuse and neglect." The RDTCs receive referrals from child welfare, law enforcement and county prosecutors to "assist with investigations of child abuse or neglect by providing timely comprehensive medical and mental health evaluations or record reviews of children with suspected physical abuse, sexual abuse, and/or neglect." Request for funding proposals (RFPs) reinforce the purpose of the RDTCs and the medical evaluations:

"The purpose of these evaluations is to ensure accurate diagnosis of any signs and symptoms of child abuse and neglect, ensure appropriate handling of forensic evidence, minimize the risk of secondary trauma to the child through examination itself, and maximize access to timely and appropriate treatment."

State officials were asked, during the 2015 RFP process, whether there was an "expectation that pediatricians" employed at the RDTCs need to be "board certified in child abuse pediatrics." State officials responded, "Pediatricians should be qualified to perform the work described in the RFP and expectations are that the pediatricians "are trained to evaluate and treat children who have been abused or neglected and their families." Given the evolution of the field, in general, expectations are that physicians performing this work will be board certified in child abuse pediatrics." ¹³⁰

In June 2018, the New Jersey Department of Children and Families Policy Manual was updated specific to Referral Guidelines for RDTC. ¹³¹ These guidelines underscore that nothing set forth in them "preclude the Local Office staff from referring any other case situation to the RDTC for their assistance and expertise." Also where the child welfare caseworker or supervisor are "unsure" about whether a referral should be made, they should contact the RDTC staff "who can help determine if the RDTC is the appropriate entity to examine, evaluate, or provide other services for the child or children in a particular case."

The guidelines than outline when "in general" there is an expectation of a referral of a child to the RDTC "during the initial phase of investigation" and when the report is specific to physical abuse. The guidance then says such referrals should be made when a child has "sustained the following types of injuries when there is a suspicion for abuse or neglect:

- head injuries,
- internal injuries,
- burns,
- bone fractures/breaks,
- cuts/bruises/welts/abrasions/oral injuries,
- human bites,
- sprains/dislocations,
- facial injuries,

 children who have consumed, or been exposed to, a poisonous substance, noxious substance, mood-altering substance, or other dangerous substance and there is concern for abuse or neglect."

Staff at the RDTC are to be contacted "immediately" when a report of physical abuse involves a child "who may need immediate evaluation in an emergency department" or where the child has experienced "life-threatening and serious injuries that are unexplained, the result of suspected abuse and/or neglect, and/or the perpetrator is unknown." Also, RDTC staff are to be immediately engaged when an infant has been referred to CP&P "by medical professionals (including hospital, emergency room personnel, private practitioners."

At a June 2018 meeting of the New Jersey Child Advocacy Center – Multidisciplinary Team Advisory Board, which was established by the 2017 law (establishing it "in, but not of" the Department of Children and Families), members underscored that "although RDTCs work together with MDTs, they have different roles than the CACs" and that there is "no duplication of services." ¹³² It was also noted that "medical issues are outside the purview" of the Advisory Board.

There were no publicly available records available suggesting that New Jersey employs a medical director for child protection – either at a state or regional level.

While not fully able to be determined, it appears the state's investment exceeds \$3 million underwriting costs associated with six state designated RDTCs. ¹³³

NORTH CAROLINA

Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes
Medical Director Identified	Yes
Specific Injuries or Age of Child Require Specialized Medical Evaluation	Yes
Designated Funding for Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes

2017134	Number of Children Under 18 Years of Age	Rate of Children, per 1,000 in the Population, receiving an Investigation or Alternative Response ¹³⁶	Rate of Child Victims of All Ages per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims <1 year per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 1 year of Age per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 2 years of Age per 1,000 children
National	74,312,174	47.1	9.1	25.3	11.7	11.0
		(n=3,501,407)	(n=673,830)	(n=100,457)	(n=46,843)	(n=44,503)
North	2,302,346	52.4	3.2	6.8	3.8	3.8
Carolina		(n=120,734)	(n=7,392)	(n=818)	(n=467)	(n=462)

Since the 1970s, there has been a "cooperative" effort between the UNC School of Medicine's Department of Pediatrics, the North Carolina State Division of Social Services (DSS), the North Carolina Legislature, local Departments of Social Services, and local medical and mental health providers resulting in the Child Medical Evaluation Program (CMEP).¹³⁷

In 1986 in the Journal of Forensic Science CMEP was cited as examining 1,500 children per year suspected "of having subtle physical evidence of abuse or neglect." The program was further described as utilizing "private practitioners, primarily pediatricians, in a systematic manner and provides consultation, direction, and quality control." CMEP was described as "unique" with the costs being "low" and the "government involvement minimal" even as the service "extensive." CMEP was "recommended to other states."

Through CMEP, there exists a "statewide network of local providers who perform medical and psychological assessments of children referred by DSS agencies to help determine the presence or extent of abuse and neglect." North Carolina's DSS utilizes a mix of federal and state funding to contract with the Division of Community Pediatrics at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill to administer CMEP.¹³⁹ Molly Berkoff, MD, MPH oversees CMEP serving as Principal Investigator and Medical Director.¹⁴⁰ Currently there are 170 medical providers and 50 psychological providers participating in the program and most major medical centers operate referral clinics.¹⁴¹

NC's DSS describes the CMEP/CFEP program as providing for:

"A structured system for medical and child/family evaluations in alleged cases of child abuse and/or neglect. Local physicians and psychologists, who have agreed to provide the service(s) in accordance with the program guidelines, perform evaluations of children (ages 0 through 17) at the request of county child welfare agencies. The program's professional staff has developed, and periodically updates, evaluation protocols designed to document physical and emotional symptoms in keeping with the latest research relative to significant findings. The program's professional staff provides daily telephone and written consultation to local examiners, child welfare staff, and the legal system regarding appropriate services and an interpretation of the recommendations and case findings. The program is actively involved in educational programs for medical and mental health practitioners, child welfare staff, law enforcement, juvenile judges, and the legal community. The CMEP/CFEP has served as a program model for several other states." 142

CMEP "follows national guidelines such as from the American Academy of Pediatrics regarding the medical evaluation of child maltreatment" and participating providers "are expected to follow and be familiar with guidelines." ¹⁴³ DSS describes the "objectives" of the medical evaluations as:

- 1. "Enabling county child welfare agencies to obtain an assessment of abuse and neglect through a medical evaluation;
- 2. Assisting county child welfare agencies and the courts in determining the most appropriate case decision; and
- 3. Providing the county child welfare agencies with recommendations that help in determining appropriate services for the child or children."

There are two distinct types of evaluations provided through CMEP¹⁴⁴:

- 1. **Medical: Child medical evaluations (CMEs)** that "occur in child's community" often at a child advocacy center or in a child's community and can include: an interview with the child welfare worker, caregiver, and child along with a "complete exam with laboratory/radiology evaluations." Also pursued is a "careful assessment of risk factors" and review of the record toward development of a comprehensive report and detailed recommendations.
- 2. **Mental Health: Child and family evaluations (CFEs)** that occur at a county agency or provider office and is "complementary to" a CME. It includes "collateral interviews and assessments," multiple interviews of child and family and "may include limited psychological testing."

A child welfare worker does not need prior permission to seek a medical evaluation and the state's policy manual outlines when such evaluations are suggested, to include 145:

- Determining the plausibility of the parent's or caretaker's explanation for any injury (e.g. bruise, wound).
- Interpreting whether bruises or marks are the result of normal childhood activities. Certain locations of bruises raise concern for abuse/neglect in young children: bruises on vulnerable areas of the body such as on the head, torso, genitalia, and buttocks.
- Understanding whether significant bruising (such as multiple or extensive bruises) are the result of normal play, a medical condition, or abuse/neglect.
- Interpreting fractures and whether they are the result of abuse and/or neglect, normal childhood activities, or a medical condition.
- Evaluating head injuries. Any concerns for a head injury in an infant or young child should be evaluated by a medical provider. This includes allegations that a child was shaken, hit, or fell and sustained head trauma. Head trauma evaluations can include children who are alleged to be victims of shaken baby syndrome (which may also be referred to as abusive head trauma, nonaccidental trauma, and other terms).
- Understanding if a burn is a result of abuse, neglect/lack of supervision, or accidental means.
- Evaluating statements made to parents, teachers, or other individuals that may represent physical abuse.
- Assessing children when physical abuse was witnessed.
- Evaluating and interpreting developmental delays in a child.
- Evaluating and interpreting delays in a child's growth (e.g. failure to thrive).
- Evaluating allegations of Munchausen by Proxy (this may also be referred to as Pediatric Condition Falsification and Medical Child Abuse).
- Assisting with the interpretation of behavioral concerns and recommending appropriate referrals.
- Evaluating untreated or inadequately treated medical conditions which have had a negative impact on the child's overall health or physical development.
- Assessing children when an investigation of the home environment reveals a lack of basic necessities to ensure a safe and healthy environment for the child.

A pediatrician and preventive medicine physician was appointed in 2017 to serve as State Health Director and the Chief Medical Officer for the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services. This position is expected to "promote public health and prevention activities, as well as provides guidance and oversight on a variety of cross-departmental issues." 147

In 2017, state lawmakers approved \$901,868 "to fund the Child Medical Evaluation Program, which pays for evaluations of children who may have been physically or sexually abused." North Carolina also directed some of its federal \$49.7 million Social Services Block Grant (SSBG) funding for CMEP. 149

OREGON

Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes
Medical Director Identified	No
Specific Injuries or Age of Child Require Specialized Medical Evaluation	Yes
Designated Funding for Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes

2017150	Number of Children Under 18 Years of Age	Rate of Children, per 1,000 in the Population, receiving an Investigation or Alternative Response 152	Rate of Child Victims of All Ages per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims <1 year per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 1 year of Age per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 2 years of Age per 1,000 children
National	74,312,174	47.1	9.1	25.3	11.7	11.0
		(n=3,501,407)	(n=673,830)	(n=100,457)	(n=46,843)	(n=44,503)
Oregon	873,619	51.9	12.7	29.9	16.7	15.9
		(n=45,316)	(n=11,070)	(n=1,395)	(n=780)	(n=754)

Karla "Karly" Sheehan was three years old when she was brutally killed by her mother's boyfriend in 2005. Following Karly's death, there were concerns raised about the fact that she had been reported as a possible victim of child abuse twice before her death. Among the issues that surfaced after Karly's death was the level of training afforded medical professionals, who come into contact with children in a pediatric or family practice or emergency department, but the medical professional may not have sufficient enough training and expertise to recognize and diagnosis child abuse.

In 2008, Oregon enacted Karly's Law and today Oregon's child abuse law underscores the following: 153

"A serious need exists for a coordinated multidisciplinary approach to the prevention and investigation of child abuse, for intervention and for the treatment of children who are victims of child abuse in a manner that is sensitive to the needs of children. No child in this state should be denied access to a child abuse medical assessment because of an inability to pay. The cost of not assessing and treating abused children with the aid of specially trained personnel is too high."

State statute requires that the district attorneys for Oregon's thirty-six counties "be responsible for developing county multidisciplinary child abuse teams." ¹⁵⁴ Each county team "shall designate at least one physician, physician assistant, naturopathic physician or nurse practitioner who has been trained to conduct child abuse medical assessments, as defined in ORS 418.782 (Definitions for ORS

418.746 to 418.796), and who is, or who may designate another physician, physician assistant, naturopathic physician or nurse practitioner who is, regularly available to conduct the medical assessment described in ORS 419B.023 (Duties of person conducting investigation under ORS 419B.020)."

The "child abuse medical assessment" is conducted by "or under the direction of a licensed physician or other licensed health care professional trained in the evaluation, diagnosis and treatment of child abuse." This assessment results in "a thorough medical history, a complete physical examination and an interview for the purpose of making a medical diagnosis, determining whether or not the child has been abused and identifying the appropriate treatment or referral for follow-up for the child."

Statute also sets forth the following definitions:

- "Community assessment center" that is defined as "a neutral, child-sensitive community-based facility or service provider to which a child from the community may be referred to receive a thorough child abuse medical assessment for the purpose of determining whether the child has been abused or neglected."
- "Regional assessment center" is one operated by a community assessment center which
 "provides child abuse medical assessments, assistance with difficult or complex child abuse
 medical assessments, education, training, consultation, technical assistance and referral
 services for community assessment centers or county multidisciplinary child abuse teams
 in a region or regions." Such regional centers are "designated by the administrator of the
 Child Abuse Multidisciplinary Intervention Program."

The Oregon statute includes a list detailing what should be considered a "Suspicious physical injury" with this list including, but not limited to 156:

- Burns or scalds:
- Extensive bruising or abrasions on any part of the body;
- Bruising, swelling or abrasions on the head, neck or face;
- Fractures of any bone in a child under the age of three;
- Multiple fractures in a child of any age;
- Dislocations, soft tissue swelling or moderate to severe cuts;
- Loss of the ability to walk or move normally according to the child's developmental ability;
- Unconsciousness or difficulty maintaining consciousness;
- Multiple injuries of different types;
- Injuries causing serious or protracted disfigurement or loss or impairment of the function of any bodily organ; or
- Any other injury that threatens the physical well-being of the child.

Whenever a person "conducting an investigation....observes a child who has suffered suspicious physical injury and the person is certain or has a reasonable suspicion that the injury is or may be the result of abuse," this investigator has several statutory obligations including to "ensure that a designated medical professional conducts a medical assessment within 48 hours, or sooner if dictated by the child's medical needs."

In 1993, Oregon lawmakers established The Child Abuse Multidisciplinary Intervention (CAMI) Account within the Department of Justice. Criminal fines and assessments generate the revenue deposited into CAMI with such funding utilized to:

- "Establish and maintain a coordinated multidisciplinary community-based system for responding to allegations of child abuse that is sensitive to the needs of children;
- Ensure the safety and health of children who are victims of child abuse to the greatest extent possible; and
- Administer the grant programs established under ORS 418.746 (Child Abuse Multidisciplinary Intervention Account) and 418.786 (Grant program)."

The CAMI Account is administered by the Attorney General. As a condition of receiving CAMI funds, county-level teams "shall submit" a "coordinated child abuse multidisciplinary intervention plan" every two years. County teams are also required to bi-annually report on how many medical assessments were completed and within what time frame.¹⁵⁷

All 36 Oregon counties received a share of the \$11 million CAMI funding for 2017-2019 specific to their multidisciplinary teamwork. Meanwhile, CAMI funding totaling approximately \$582,000 was awarded to five regional assessment centers in 2017-2018. 159160

SOUTH CAROLINA

Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes
Medical Director Identified	No
Specific Injuries or Age of Child Require Specialized Medical Evaluation	Yes
Designated Funding for Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes

2017161	Number of Children Under 18 Years of Age	Rate of Children, per 1,000 in the Population, receiving an Investigation or Alternative Response ¹⁶³	Rate of Child Victims of All Ages per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims <1 year per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 1 year of Age per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 2 years of Age per 1,000 children
National	74,312,174	47.1	9.1	25.3	11.7	11.0
		(n=3,501,407)	(n=673,830)	(n=100,457)	(n=46,843)	(n=44,503)
South	1,104,674	62.2	15.5	38.1	21.4	19.8
Carolina		(n=68,718)	(n=17,071)	(n=2,195)	(n=1,254)	(n=1,182)

The South Carolina Children's Advocacy Medical Response System (SCCAMRS) Program evolved from a 2003 partnership between the South Carolina Children's Hospital Collaborative and the South Carolina Network of Children's Advocacy Centers intended "to address the shortage and training of clinicians specializing in the medical assessment of child abuse and neglect (CAN) and the disparity in quality and delivery of these services." 164

The University Of South Carolina School of Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, supported by the Collaborative and Network of CACs, pursued a grant from the Duke Endowment "to fund the initial stages of a statewide program to focus on these concerns." Several years later South Carolina's Department of Health and Human Services recognized "the complexity of the medical services required for the assessment of child maltreatment and the need for the continued enhancement of the quality and availability of such services to their Medicaid eligible child population" adding the agency's support for the SCCAMRS framework.

By 2014 state statute was enacted stipulating¹⁶⁵:

"There is created the South Carolina Children's Advocacy Medical Response System, a program to provide coordination and administration of medical service resources to those entities responding to cases of suspected child abuse or neglect. The program is administered by the University Of South Carolina School of Medicine."

The SCCAMRS Program "is housed within the Department of Pediatrics at the University of South Carolina School of Medicine." SCCAMRS "coordinates and administers child abuse medical service

resources for the State, assisting and collaborating with children's advocacy centers and state agencies charged with the investigation, assessment, treatment, and prosecution of child abuse or neglect for children in the State." It is through this program that "a consistent quality standard of care and practice for the following services intrinsic to the assessment of children with suspected abuse or neglect" are developed and supported. Specifically, there is a pursuit of "consistent" practice related to:

- forensic medical examinations, assessments, and diagnoses;
- medical consultations;
- participation in multidisciplinary team case conferences and reviews; and
- medical expert witness services.

The program is required to "develop, support and maintain:

- guidelines for the educational, clinical training, and professional development requirements
 of health care providers participating in the forensic medical assessment of children who are
 suspected victims of child abuse or neglect;
- a standardized clinical assessment tool to report the findings of the forensic medical assessment; and
- guidelines for the South Carolina Department of Social Services and law enforcement agencies on when to obtain a forensic medical assessment."

A standardized Child Maltreatment Protocol tool is utilized throughout the state. ¹⁶⁶ There is also a regularly updated Health Care Provider Directory that in addition to general contact information highlights if the health care provider has a specific board certification. ¹⁶⁷

South Carolina's Human Services Policy and Procedure Manual directs the actions to be taken once a child welfare caseworker has been assigned a child abuse report. Among the initial steps this professional is to take is to check to see if law enforcement has made a referral to a CAC.

If such a referral has not been made, the child welfare worker is to make a referral "as soon as possible after receipt of the report, but in no more than 5 working days." This referral can be made to a CAC "or similar multidisciplinary abuse assessment facility for medical examination by a physician, or by an advanced practice registered nurse or physician assistant who is working under the supervision of a physician who has been trained in child abuse and neglect."

Referrals are required when "presenting issues" include, but are not limited to:

- Head injury to children less than 3 years of age;
- Burns in children 3 years of age or younger;
- Fractures in children 5 years of age or younger;
- Bruises located on the face, next, chest, back, buttocks with a pattern or multiple in number.

The Policy Manual sets forth situations where a "medical evaluation by the CAC may not be necessary." This might occur when the child "has already had a medical examination by a physician or other licensed healthcare provider" or the child welfare caseworker (with a supervisor's approval) has conducted a safety assessment and "there are no indication of injuries" as outlined in the policy manual (e.g., head injury in young children, bruises on the face, fractures).

South Carolina statute outlines the duties of the Department of Social Services to include operation of a "separate organizational unit" operating with "qualified staff and resources" to accomplish a number of functions including (but not limited to) "assisting in the diagnosis of child abuse and neglect." ¹⁶⁹ It doesn't appear the state has created a Medical Director or something similar.

South Carolina's 2018-2019 budget directed "not less than" \$2.075 million" be appropriated to the University of South Carolina School of Medicine for the Child Abuse and Neglect Medical Response Program.¹⁷⁰

TEXAS

Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes
Medical Director Identified	No
Specific Injuries or Age of Child Require Specialized Medical Evaluation	Yes
Designated Funding for Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	Yes

2017171	Number of Children Under 18 Years of Age	Rate of Children, per 1,000 in the Population, receiving an Investigation or Alternative Response 173	Rate of Child Victims of All Ages per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims <1 year per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 1 year of Age per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 2 years of Age per 1,000 children
National	74,312,174	47.1	9.1	25.3	11.7	11.0
		(n=3,501,407)	(n=673,830)	(n=100,457)	(n=46,843)	(n=44,503)
Texas	7,366,039	38.5	8.3	27.0	13.0	11.8
		(n=283,764)	(n=61,506)	(n=10,871)	(n=5,288)	(n=4,855)

In 2005, The Texas legislature enacted legislation requiring that the Texas Health and Human Services Commission (HHSC) "shall collaborate with health care and child welfare professionals to design a comprehensive, cost-effective medical services delivery model, either directly or by contract, to meet the needs of children served by the department." ¹⁷⁴

Among the required elements of this medical services delivery model:

- "The designation of health care facilities with expertise in the forensic assessment, diagnosis, and treatment of child abuse and neglect as pediatric centers of excellence."
- "The establishment of a statewide telemedicine system to link department investigators and caseworkers with pediatric centers of excellence or other medical experts for consultation."

By 2006, the Family and Protective Services Department (DFPS) had contracted with The University of Texas Health Science Center-Houston "to create the Forensic Assessment Center Network (FACN)." Through this network which continues today, DFPS began to make "expert pediatricians available for consultation to Children's Protective Services and Child Care Licensing on cases of suspected child abuse and neglect." 176

In 2007, the Texas Legislature created a 10-member "committee on pediatric centers of excellence relating to abuse and neglect" requiring that 3 members of this committee were to be "pediatricians who specialize in treating victims of child abuse." This Pediatric Center of Excellence (PCOE) committee was expected to "develop guidelines for designating regional pediatric centers of

excellence" that would then "provide medical expertise to children who are suspected victims of abuse and neglect and assist the department in evaluating and interpreting the medical findings for children who are suspected victims of abuse and neglect." This committee was directed to "recommended procedures and protocols" for health care providers "to follow in evaluating suspected cases of child abuse and neglect" and how best to finance pediatric centers.

In 2009, the PCOE committee released its findings acknowledging the "significant strides" Texas had achieved through FACN. It also acknowledged that, in addition to FACN, there were also children's advocacy centers (CACs), child fatality review teams (CFRTs) and child abuse teams in children's hospitals. The committee did not suggest that existing initiatives be replaced or significantly altered. Instead, the committee observed that a "more comprehensive approach" was required." ¹⁷⁸

The committee identified the "limited number of clinicians with training and expertise on child abuse" as a "major barrier to providing timely and effective child abuse assessment, diagnosis and treatment." The committee also highlighted that medical evaluations for a child who may be a victim of child "is a complex and time-consuming undertaking" and providers were reimbursed "only a fraction" of the costs associated with the services provided. The committee recommended a three-tiered (e.g., basic, advanced and center of excellence) Medical Child Abuse Resources and Education System (MEDCARES).

The Texas Legislature responded by authorizing, in statute, the MEDCARES grant program and appropriated \$5 million to the Texas Department of State Health Services (DSHS) for the establishment of a competitive application process by January 2010. ¹⁷⁹ The enacted statute also required a biennial report submitted to the governor and legislature and created a MEDCARES Advisory Committee, which was abolished by the legislature in 2015.

Eligible grantees were hospitals, academic health centers, and health care facilities with expertise in pediatric health capable of "developing and supporting regional programs to improve the assessment, diagnosis, and treatment of child abuse and neglect." ¹⁸⁰

In 2017-2018, the Texas Department of State Health Services (DSHS) awarded a total of \$5.54 million to 11 entities, including 2 that met only the basic criteria (see chart below). 181

Texas MEDCARES Program Criteria	Basic	Advanced	Center of Excellence
		At least 1 physician	
	At least 1	"board-certified as a	At least 2 "board
	"experienced and	child abuse	eligible/certified child
Physician(s) – full time	trained in all types of	pediatrician" or that	abuse pediatricians as
	child abuse and	demonstrates	part of full multi-
	neglect"	"completion of a	disciplinary team."
		pediatric child	

Texas MEDCARES Program Criteria	Basic	Advanced	Center of Excellence
		abuse fellowship	
		with experience	
		providing child	
		abuse and neglect	
		services."	
Dedicated social work	One	One	Yes
assessment/program coordination	One	One	res
Increased size, volume and support from			
medical subspecialties, mental health			Yes
care and counseling			
Comprehensive medical evaluation,			
psychosocial assessments, treatment	Yes	Yes	Yes
services, and written and photographic	ies	res	ies
documentation of abuse			
Medical case reviews, consultations, and			
testimony regarding those reviews and		Yes	Yes
consultations			
Utilization of telemedicine to extend		Yes	Yes
services into regional, underserved areas		103	103
Education and training for health	Yes	Yes	Yes
professionals	103	103	103
Research, data collection, and quality		Yes	Yes
assurance activities		163	
Regional resource			Yes
Regional leadership on prevention			Yes
Advanced training for pediatricians			
interested in becoming child abuse			Yes
specialists			
Recognized authority for child			Yes
maltreatment research			103

In October 2018, DSHS "re-competed the grant program" awarding funding only to contractors who met the advanced category criteria. The reconfigured grant opportunity required that respondents be a "hospital or academic health center with advanced expertise in medical child abuse and neglect services that meet the criteria of an advanced or center of excellence program described in detail in the Pediatric Centers of Excellence Advisory Committee Report." 183

Among the requirements that respondents were required to meet:

- Have a minimum of one full time equivalent Pediatrician board certified as a Child Abuse Pediatrician ("CAP") or a Pediatrician with 5 or more years of experience in forensic child abuse assessment, diagnosis and treatment.
- Have a minimum of one full time equivalent social worker with experience in trauma informed care.

- Currently be providing comprehensive medical evaluations for child abuse and neglect patients, including consults on inpatient and outpatient cases.
- Have in-house access to related subspecialty services such as pediatric radiology, geneticists, and endocrinologists, who specialize in identifying unique health conditions, including the following:
 - a. Rickets
 - b. Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome
 - c. Osteogenesis imperfecta
 - d. Vitamin D deficiency
 - e. Other similar metabolic bone diseases or connective tissue disorders

A current list of MEDCARE contractors is available at https://www.dshs.texas.gov/mch/medcares.shtm/.

According to the 2017-2018 Biennial Report, 19 of the 22 CAPs practicing in Texas are employed by MEDCARES contractors. Activities or improvements realized "through MEDCARES providers" included increasing "cooperation with Child Protective Services", law enforcement and judicial personal "through consultations, medical care review, and providing testimony in court." 185

In early 2019, DSHS committed to evaluating the quality of monthly program measures submitted by MEDCARES contractors after discovering that "the reported number of children examined through outpatient consultations was underrepresented". As a result the "percent of confirmed abuse cases reported by contractors may have been inflated". As part of the process, DSHS discovered there was "variation" in how contractors were defining DSHS' required measures (e.g., number of consultations, case reviews, trainings). Effective July 2019, DSHS "developed new data measures, standardized data definitions, and developed a new data submission tool to improve data quality." ¹⁸⁷

The Child Protective Services Handbook published by the Texas Department of Family and Protective Services (DFPS) sets forth when a child protective caseworker is required to enlist FACN, with FACN noted as including "physicians who specialize in child abuse and neglect." ¹⁸⁸ FACN must be enlisted under the following circumstances:

- "There does not appear to be any reasonable explanation for an injury, or the explanation is not consistent with the injury.
- Assistance is needed to determine whether abuse or neglect has occurred.
- There is a disagreement between a medical professional and DFPS regarding whether abuse or neglect occurred or the seriousness of an injury or condition, and clarity is needed.
- There is evidence of medical child abuse (also known as Munchausen syndrome).
- There is bruising on an infant or child who is not mobile.
- The caseworker has a lingering question about abuse or neglect that a medical professional may be able to clarify." 189

The handbook instructs caseworkers that they "generally do not need to consult the FACN if a child has already been seen by a local physician and there are no lingering questions or concerns."

The Pennsylvania Perspective

Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	No
Medical Director Identified	No
Specific Injuries or Age of Child Require Specialized Medical Evaluation	No
Designated Funding for Medical Evaluation and Consultation Program	No

2017 ¹⁹⁰	Number of Children Under 18 Years of Age	Rate of Children, per 1,000 in the Population, receiving an Investigation or Alternative Response 192	Rate of Child Victims of All Ages per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims <1 year per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 1 year of Age per 1,000 children	Rate of Child Victims 2 years of Age per 1,000 children
National	74,312,174	47.1	9.1	25.3	11.7	11.0
		(n=3,501,407)	(n=673,830)	(n=100,457)	(n=46,843)	(n=44,503)
Pennsylva	2,664,515	16.1	1.7	2.6	1.6	1.7
nia ¹⁹³		(n=42,890)	(n=4,625)	(n=361)	(n=220)	(n=245)

In 1993 as Pennsylvania lawmakers were debating amendments to the Child Protective Services Law, which was initially enacted in 1975, a member of the Pennsylvania House of Representatives offered an amendment stipulating: 194

"If the investigation indicates physical abuse, an immediate medical examination shall be performed on the subject child by a certified medical practitioner to assist in determining whether there is a history of prior physical abuse."

The sponsor of the amendment said the catalyst to his amendment was the death and autopsy of a child that had been abused. He said the autopsy revealed "that this child had been abused on many occasions prior to this." The sponsoring lawmaker underscored, "This amendment simply says that when a child is brought in for an injury, that there be a more extensive medical examination to determine and in fact if there was previous evidence or evidence of previous abuse so that it could be taken into consideration insofar as the treatment of that case." 195

The prime sponsor of the underlying child protection reform bill said the proposed amendment was an "excellent idea", but also cited a \$1.2 million cost telling his legislative colleagues, "I am told that we do not have the money for it."

Eventually, as enacted, Act 151 of 1994 included the following language within the CPSL: 196 "If the investigation indicates serious physical injury, a medical examination shall be performed on the subject child by a certified medical practitioner. Where there is

reasonable cause to suspect there is a history of prior or current abuse, the medical practitioner has the authority to arrange for further medical tests or the county agency has the authority to request further medical tests."

By 2013, Pennsylvania lawmakers altered the "shall" provision related to a child's connection to a "medical examination" to a "may require" provision as part of a significant package of child protection reforms. As of November 2019, Pennsylvania statute states that if an investigation "indicates bodily injury, the county agency may require that a medical examination by a certified medical practitioner be performed on the child." ¹⁹⁷

Pennsylvania's child protection statute has long authorized the Pennsylvania Department of Human Services (PA DHS) to "provide for the establishment of regional facilities or a regional coordination of licensed professional service providers to provide county agencies with access to licensed physicians and psychologists." Still, as of November 2019, no such program – statewide or regionally – has been created.

While there is no statewide statute outlining specific situations when a child must be connected to a medical evaluation in the course of a child abuse investigation nor a statewide medical evaluation and consultation program or contract, individual counties do directly engage clinical insight from nurses and/or child abuse pediatricians.

As part of submitting their annual child protective services (CPS) budget to the Pennsylvania Department of Human Services (PA DHS), Pennsylvania's 67 counties were asked in 2019 to identify if the county has established any contracts or consulting arrangements with physicians or "other appropriate medical professionals to assess the health and well-being of children in their own homes to determine the appropriate medical treatment?". 199

Allegheny County responded in its draft 2020-2021 budget plan, crafted in July 2019, that the county has "embedded" nurses in its child welfare system through a contract with Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh. This Child Health Evaluation Coordination Support (CHECs) permits nurses, under the supervision of a child abuse pediatrician, to "conduct record reviews and in-home consultations, translate medical information for case workers, and improve continuity of care for any case that comes into the office." The county further cites the CHECs in a discussion about how the county implemented "improved investigative practices" in 2018. The development of an investigative practice standard manual and training is intended to support CPS caseworkers and supervisor staff.

The City of Philadelphia Department of Human Services hires nurses "to help social workers ensure the health and safety of children in their caseload." Philadelphia DHS also contracts with the Health Federation of Philadelphia to connect families raising an infant born affected by prenatal substance exposure with intensive home visitation and case management services. ²⁰¹

In 2012, a Task Force on Child Protection, created by the Pennsylvania General Assembly, issued a report and a series of comprehensive recommendations to rework how the Commonwealth defined, reported and investigated child abuse and neglect.²⁰² The Task Force noted the work of Philadelphia DHS, including (at the time) employment of a part-time medical director along with "highly qualified nurses" able to provide "expert advice" to CPS caseworkers. The Task Force observed, "Although the cost of hiring nurses may be well beyond the budgets of many counties in the Commonwealth and may or may not be an appropriate part of needs-based budgeting process, medical outreach by local hospitals or other organizations could serve as an important resource."

As part of the 2014 agreement negotiated between Penn State and the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA), Penn State paid \$48 million to the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. This \$48 million was then "deposited into an endowment" established as a "separate trust fund in the State Treasury." The road map Pennsylvania must follow to invest the \$48 million (and any earned interest) is set forth in The Higher Education Monetary Penalty Endowment Act (Act 1 of 2013). PA's elected Treasurer makes endowment funding available to the PA Commission on Crime and Delinquency (PCCD) for the following purposes:

- 1. Programs or projects preventing child sexual abuse and/or assisting the victims of child sexual abuse;
- 2. Multidisciplinary investigative teams established by PA law, which must include a CPS caseworker, law enforcement and a (broadly defined) health care provider;
- 3. Child advocacy centers;
- 4. Victim service organizations that provide services to children subjected to sexual abuse; or
- 5. Training of persons who are mandated by law to report child sexual abuse or to treat victims of child sexual abuse.

PCCD is guided in its decisions related to the endowment act funding by the statutorily created Children's Advocacy Center Advisory Committee (CACAC).²⁰⁴ The CACAC also provides advice and recommendations to PCCD on other state and federal funding streams. Between 2012 and July 2019, PCCD's CACAC has awarded 402 grants.²⁰⁵

Act 28 of 2014 provided a direct funding source for children's advocacy centers (CACs) and multidisciplinary investigative teams (MDITs). In enacting Act 28, the Pennsylvania General Assembly described CACs as "state-of-the-art treatment for victims of child sexual abuse and child abuse" and that such centers "bring together doctors, nurses, prosecutors, social workers and police in order to provide a unique and essential program of treatment and healing for child victims." The statute stipulates, "Children's advocacy centers not only treat child victims, but assist in preventing and detecting child abuse and provide, through forensic interviewing and other techniques employed by the multidisciplinary investigative teams, the most effective way to bring perpetrators of child sexual abuse to justice."

Act 28 imposed a \$10 fee increase for a certified copy of a birth certificate. Seventy-five percent of the generated revenue is directed to PCCD annually to provide grants for child advocacy centers and MDITs. The remaining 25% is available to the Pennsylvania Department of Human Services (PA DHS) to train mandated reporters

Annual reports issued by Children's Advocacy Centers (CACs) and the budget plans submitted by county CPS agencies illustrate that there is an extensive degree of infrastructure established to respond to child victims within the Commonwealth, but the type of abuse addressed at CACs is most often related to sexual abuse allegations. Pennsylvania CACs undertake large volumes of forensic interviews, but far fewer children are being connected to medical services. For example:

- The Over the Rainbow CAC serving children in Adams County provided forensic interviews to 170 children between July 1, 2016 and June 30, 2017. ²⁰⁶ In that same time period, the CAC's annual report indicates 100% of the children evaluated at the CAC "were eligible for medical exams, but only 31% received one. Types of abuse reported was overwhelmingly sexual abuse (n=109) followed by physical abuse (n=41).
- Beginning in 2017, the Bucks County Children's Advocacy Center (CAC), which is a program of the Network of Victim Assistance (NOVA), "contracted with St. Christopher's Hospital for Children, to provide specialized medical exams for children who have been sexually abused." This contract "enhances the coordination of services and provides parents and caregivers with access to the vitally important forensic medical services right in Bucks County reducing stress and increasing compliance during emotional trauma to the family and, in particular, the child."
- Cambria County noted in its child welfare plan and budget that for "child sexual abuse cases, the Child Advocacy Center works with the agency, the District Attorney's office, the Courts, Victim Services, medical services and hospitals, and the police departments in the county."²⁰⁷
- Mission Kids, which serves children and families in Montgomery County, reports that in 2017, the agency" performed 579 forensic interviews; 15.8% (n=92) of children received a referral to Children's Hospital of Philadelphia's Child Abuse, Referral and Evaluation (CARE) Clinic. ²⁰⁸ Types of abuse addressed by Mission Kids is listed as 464 related to sexual abuse, 125 physical abuse, 23 other and 23 where the child was a witness to violence.
- Philadelphia Children's Alliance (PCA) reported that there were 3,313 reports of alleged child sexual abuse in Philadelphia in 2017"²⁰⁹ Approximately 58% (n=1,916) of these children were interviewed by the multidisciplinary team at PCA and 17% (n=560) received an "on-site medical evaluation."²¹⁰

Beyond the Act 28 and Endowment Act funding, additional state funding can be directed to CACs when a county CPS agency requests funding to support a CAC. For example, Lancaster County noted it provided \$128,000 of the \$435,190 budget of the Lancaster County CAC. The county further noted, "All children with allegations of sexual abuse are interviewed at the Children's Alliance and have the opportunity to have a medical exam." ²¹¹

Pennsylvania's Crime Victims Act limits permits a hospital or other licensed health care provider to submit a claim to be reimbursed for the cost of a forensic rape examination (FRE).²¹² Costs associated with medical evaluations unrelated to reports of child sexual abuse are unaddressed in the Crime Victims Act or administered compensation program.

As of November 2019, Pennsylvania did not have a statewide medical director involved in developing and overseeing child protection policies and practices.

Reference Notes

¹ See for example:

- Anderst, J., et al. (2009). "Is the diagnosis of physical abuse changed when Child Protective Services consults a Child Abuse Pediatrics subspecialty group as a second opinion?" *Child Abuse and Neglect* **33**(8): 481-489.
- McGuire, L., et al. (2011). "Child abuse consultations initiated by child protective services: the role of expert opinions." *Acad Pediatr* **11**(6): 467-473.
- Girardet, R., et al. (2018). "Child protective services utilization of child abuse pediatricians: A mixed methods study." *Child Abuse and Neglect*, **76**: 381-387

² See for example:

- Hixenbaugh M. Hundreds of parents accused of child abuse by doctors come forward. Houston Chronicle. December 5, 2019 https://www.houstonchronicle.com/news/houstontexas/houston/article/Hundreds-of-families-accused-of-child-abuse-by-14882290.php
- An ER doctor was charged with abusing his baby. But 15 medical experts say there's no proof https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/er-doctor-was-charged-abusing-his-baby-15-medical-experts-n1123756

³ See

https://www.americanbar.org/groups/litigation/committees/jiop/articles/2017/summer2017-combating-medical-experts-abuse-neglect-cases-juvenile-court-act/ and = Narang S. Understanding limits to legal immunity in child abuse cases. AAP News 2016: https://www.aappublications.org/news/2016/09/12/Law091216

- ⁴ U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2019). *Child Maltreatment* 2017. Available from https://www.acf.hhs.gov/cb/research-data-technology/ statistics-research/child-maltreatment.
- ⁵ Ibid.
- ⁶ Ibid.
- ⁷ U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Administration on Children, Youth and Families, Children's Bureau. (2019). *Child Maltreatment* 2017. Available from https://www.acf.hhs.gov/cb/research-data-technology/ statistics-research/child-maltreatment.
- 8 Public Law No: 112-275
- ⁹ Commission to Eliminate Child Abuse and Neglect Fatalities. (2016). Within our reach: A national strategy to eliminate child abuse and neglect fatalities. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.
- ¹⁰ See for example:
 - Guenther E, Powers A, Srivastava R, Bonkowsky JL. Abusive head trauma in children presenting with an apparent life-threatening event. *The Journal of pediatrics*. 2010 Nov;157(5):821-5.
 - Jackson AM, Deye KP, Halley T, et al. Curiosity and critical thinking: identifying child abuse before it is too late. Clinical Pediatrics. 2015 Jan;54(1):54-61

- Jenny C, Hymel KP, Ritzen A, Reinert SE, Hay TC. Analysis of missed cases of abusive head trauma. *JAMA*. 1999 Feb 17;281(7):621-6.
- King WK, Kiesel EL, Simon HK. Child abuse fatalities: are we missing opportunities for intervention? *Pediatric Emergency Care*. 2006 Apr;22(4):211-4.
- Letson MM, Cooper JN, Deans KJ, et al. Prior opportunities to identify abuse in children with abusive head trauma. *Child Abuse & Neglect*. 2016 Sep 25;60:36-45.
- Oral R, Yagmur F, Nashelsky M, Turkmen M, Kirby P. Fatal abusive head trauma cases: consequence of medical staff missing milder forms of physical abuse. *Pediatric Emergency Care*. 2008 Dec;24(12):816-21.
- Pierce MC, Smith S, Kaczor K. Bruising in infants: those with a bruise may be abused. *Pediatric Emergency Care*. 2009 Dec;25(12):845-7.
- Ravichandiran N, Schuh S, Bejuk M, et al. Delayed identification of pediatric abuse-related fractures. *Pediatrics*. 2010 Jan;125(1):60-6.
- Thackeray JD. Frena tears and abusive head injury: a cautionary tale. *Pediatric Emergency Care*. 2007 Oct;23(10):735-7.
- Thorpe EL, Zuckerbraun NS, Wolford JE, Berger RP. Missed opportunities to diagnose child physical abuse. *Pediatric Emergency Care*. 2014 Nov;30(11):771-6.
- ¹¹ Sheets LK, Leach ME, Koszewski IJ, Lessmeier AM, Nugent M, Simpson P. Sentinel injuries in infants evaluated for child physical abuse. *Pediatrics*. 2013 Apr;131(4):701-7.
- ¹² See for example:
 - Anderst JD, Carpenter SL, Abshire TC, Section on HO, Committee on Child A, Neglect of the American Academy of P. Evaluation for bleeding disorders in suspected child abuse. *Pediatrics*. 2013 Apr;131(4):e1314-22.
 - Christian ND. Evaluation of suspected child physical abuse. *Pediatrics*. 2007 Jun;119(6):1232-41.
 - Flaherty EG, Perez-Rossello JM, Levine MA, et al. Evaluating children with fractures for child physical abuse. *Pediatrics*. 2014 Feb;133(2):e477-89
- ¹³ Trokel M, Wadimmba A, Griffith J, Sege R. Variation in the diagnosis of child abuse in severely injured infants. Pediatrics. 2006 Mar;117(3):722-8. Wood JN, Feudtner C, Medina SP, Luan X, Localio R, Rubin DM. Variation in Occult Injury Screening for Children With Suspected Abuse in Selected US Children's Hospitals. *Pediatrics*. 2012 Nov;130(5):853-60.
- ¹⁴ The Evaluation of Suspected Child Physical Abuse, Cindy W. Christian, MD, FAAP, COMMITTEE ON CHILD ABUSE AND NEGLECT NEEDS A LOT MORE INFORMATION
- ¹⁵ Mike DeWine was elected to serve as Ohio Attorney General from 2011 through 2019. In November 2018, DeWine was elected Governor of Ohio.
- $^{16}\underline{http://www.ohiochildrenshospitals.org/docs/ResearchCollaborativeInfographic3.pdf} \text{ PAGE NOT FOUND}$
- ¹⁷https://www.loraincounty.com/health/feature.shtml?f=39091
- 18 http://ohioaap.org/trainnetwork
- ¹⁹ Public law 93-247.
- ²⁰ 42 U.S.C. 5104] I THINK WE NEED MORE DETAIL HERE

- ²¹ ACYF-CB-PI-17-03 issued March 1, 2017 retrieved at https://www.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/cb/pi1703.pdf.
- ²² http://www.nationalchildrensalliance.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/NCA-CPA-Guide.pdf
- ²³ S.1009 and H.R. 2076 Early Detection to Stop Infant Abuse and Prevent Fatalities Act.
- ²⁴ Child Maltreatment 2017, Table 3–6 Victims by Age, 2017.
- ²⁵ Child Maltreatment 2017, Table C-2 Child Population, 2013–2017.
- ²⁶ Child Maltreatment 2017, Table 3-1 Children Who Received an Investigation or Alternative Response, 2013-2017.
- ²⁷ Ohio was not included in the overall examination of state statute or administrative policies, but this publication references Ohio's Timely Recognition of Abusive Injuries (TRAIN) Collaborative in the discussion of sentinel injuries.
- ²⁸ Pennsylvania operates what the Pennsylvania Department of Human Services (PA DHS) describes as an "alternative response" where certain reports are classified as General Protective Services (GPS). GPS reports often trigger a legally required assessment of the child or family. To date, Pennsylvania has not reported data about the number of GPS assessments or related outcomes (e.g., validated or invalid) within the data submitted to The National Child Abuse and Neglect Data System (NCANDS). As a result, the data within the annual Child Maltreatment, which was the source of the above chart, does not provide a reliable measure of the number or rate of children in Pennsylvania receiving an investigation or alternative response. Additionally, variation in state definitions of child abuse and neglect assures that what some states might capture as neglect is instead categorized as a GPS case in Pennsylvania. These factors then should be understood when comparing Pennsylvania's data to national or another state's data reported within Child Maltreatment.
- ²⁹ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3–6 Victims by Age, 2017.
- ³⁰ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table C-2 Child Population, 2013–2017.
- ³¹ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3-1 Children Who Received an Investigation or Alternative Response, 2013-2017.
- ³² Beginning in 2012, Connecticut implemented an alternative response, but the state "is not reporting to NCANDS data from reports handled through alternate response". *Child Maltreatment* 2017 State Profiles, page 141.
- ³³ Early Childhood Practice Guide for Children Aged Zero to Five published by the Connecticut Department of Children and Families, April 2016. Retrieved at https://portal.ct.gov/-/media/dcf/CCCSD/pdf/ECPGWappendixpdf.pdf?la=en.
- ³⁴ Suspected Child Abuse and Neglect (SCAN) Program at Connecticut Children's Medical Center retrieved at https://www.connecticutchildrens.org/search-specialties/emergency-medicine/child-abuse-neglect/.
- ³⁵ Yale New Haven Children's Hospital retrieved at https://www.ynhh.org/childrens-hospital/services/support-services/child-abuse.aspx
- ³⁶ About Us section of Connecticut's Office of Child Advocate retrieved on July 16, 2019 at https://www.ct.gov/oca/cwp/view.asp?a=1300&q=254830.
- ³⁷Juan F. v. Malloy retrieved at https://www.childrensrights.org/class_action/connecticut/

- ³⁸ Juan F. v. Malloy Exit Plan Status Report released in August 2018, page 83 retrieved at https://www.childrensrights.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/Status-Report-Fourth-Quarter-2017-and-First-Quarter-2018-final.pdf
- ³⁹ https://portal.ct.gov/-/media/dcf/DataConnect/pdf/APSR-2018-Final-06302017.pdf?la=en
- ⁴⁰https://www.cga.ct.gov/kid/related/20170126_January%2026,%202017%20Committee%20Me eting%20Handouts/DCF%20Org%20Chart.pdf
- ⁴¹ Connecticut State Department of Administrative Services Director of Pediatrics Recruitment #180530-2356MD-001 retrieved at https://www.jobapscloud.com/CT/sup/bulpreview.asp?R1=180530&R2=2356MD&R3=001.
- 42 Ibid.
- ⁴³ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3–6 Victims by Age, 2017.
- ⁴⁴ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table C-2 Child Population, 2013–2017.
- ⁴⁵ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3-1 Children Who Received an Investigation or Alternative Response, 2013-2017.
- ⁴⁶ Florida statute: Title V Judicial Branch, Chapter 39 proceedings related to children, Section 303 (Child protection teams and sexual abuse treatment programs; services; eligible cases).
- ⁴⁷ Ibid.
- 48 Office of Child Welfare Annual Performance Report 2017-18 retrieved at https://www.myflfamilies.com/service-programs/childwelfare/docs/2018LMRs/2018%20Annual%20Performance%20Report.pdf
- ⁴⁹ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Florida State Profile, page 149.
- ⁵⁰ Children's Medical Services Child Protection Teams contact information as published by the Florida Department of Health retrieved at http://www.cms-kids.com/families/child protection safety/child protection teams.html.
- ⁵¹ Child Welfare Operating Procedures CFOP 170 Series, Chapter 9 Coordination with Child Protection Teams effective September 15, 2017. Retrieved at http://centerforchildwelfare.org/kb/DCF Pol/CFOP 170/CFOP170 5-Ch9.pdf.
- ⁵² Florida statute 39.303 Child protection teams and sexual abuse treatment programs; services; eligible cases.
- ⁵³ Florida 39.303(3) or The Florida Certification Board background retrieved at https://flcertificationboard.org/certifications/child-protection-team-medical-provider/.
- ⁵⁴ Florida statutes, 39.303 Child protection teams and sexual abuse treatment programs; services; eligible cases.
- ⁵⁵ Child Welfare Operating Procedures CFOP 170 Series, Chapter 9 Coordination with Child Protection Teams effective September 15, 2017. Retrieved at http://centerforchildwelfare.org/kb/DCF Pol/CFOP 170/CFOP170 5-Ch9.pdf.
- 56 Ibid.
- 57 https://www.myflfamilies.com/programs/childwelfare/dashboard/
- 58 Senate Bill 2500 as enrolled on May 6, 2019 and retrieved at https://www.flsenate.gov/Session/Bill/2019/2500/BillText/er/PDF
- ⁵⁹ Child Maltreatment 2017, Table 3-6 Victims by Age, 2017.
- ⁶⁰ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table C-2 Child Population, 2013–2017.

- ⁶¹ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3-1 Children Who Received an Investigation or Alternative Response, 2013-2017.
- ⁶² Million-dollar grant supports development of statewide program to set new standards for childabuse investigations press release from University of Chicago Children's Hospital retrieved at http://www.uchospitals.edu/news/2001/20010822-glick.html
- ⁶³ Program for medical expertise in child abuse evaluations moves back to UChicago Medicine written by Sarah Richards for UChicago Medicine published October 7, 2019. Retrieved at https://www.uchicagomedicine.org/forefront/pediatrics-articles/2019/october/mpeec-program-for-medical-expertise-in-child-abuse-evaluations-moves-back-to-uchicago-medicine
- ⁶⁴ Illinois Department of Children and Family services Procedures 300 Section 300.100 Manual (June 11, 2019 PT 2019.19). Retrieved at https://www2.illinois.gov/dcfs/aboutus/notices/Documents/procedures_300.pdf
- ⁶⁵ Illinois Department of Children and Family Services 2019 Annual Progress and Services Report retrieved at https://www2.illinois.gov/dcfs/aboutus/newsandreports/Documents/APSR_FY19.pdf.
- 66 The Urgent Need in Illinois for Unit- Based Multidisciplinary Teams to Investigate Child Abuse report and recommendations prepared by The Illinois Children's Justice Task Force in February 2019. Retrieved at
 - https://www.childrensadvocacycentersofillinois.org/uploads/documents/mdt-report.pdf
- 67 Illinois Department of Children and Family services Procedures 300 Section 300.100 Manual (June 11, 2019 PT 2019.19). Retrieved at
- https://www2.illinois.gov/dcfs/aboutus/notices/Documents/procedures_300.pdf
- $^{68}\ https://govappsqa.illinois.gov/gata/csfa/FileView.aspx?nofo=550$
 - https://www2.illinois.gov/dcfs/aboutus/newsandreports/news/Documents/Dr_Jaudes_Obituar y.pdf
- 70 Illinois Department of Children and Family Services Organizational Chart as of November 14, 2019. Retrieved at
 - https://www2.illinois.gov/dcfs/aboutus/director/Documents/DCFS_OrgChart.pdf
- ⁷¹ Child Maltreatment 2017, Table 3-6 Victims by Age, 2017.
- ⁷² *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table C–2 Child Population, 2013–2017.
- ⁷³ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3-1 Children Who Received an Investigation or Alternative Response, 2013-2017.
- ⁷⁴ Indiana Department of Child Services memo regarding Pediatric Evaluation and Diagnostic Service (PEDS) Program DCS-08-04 dated May 1, 2008. Retrieved at https://www.in.gov/dcs/files/PediatricEvaluationandDiagnosticServiceProgram_Archive.pdf
 ⁷⁵ Ibid.
- $^{76} https://www.helfersociety.org/assets/docs/Fellowships/riley%20hospital%20fellowship%20description%202015%20update.pdf$
- ⁷⁷ Indiana Child Welfare Policy Manual (as last updated November 15, 2019). Retrieved at https://www.in.gov/dcs/2354.htm
- ⁷⁸ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, page 159.

- ⁷⁹ Child Abuse Pediatrics Consult website and links to access the referral forms for PEDS referrals https://pedsit.pediatrics.iu.edu/ChildProtection_V2/
- 80 Ibid.
- ⁸¹ A Prevention Plan for Los Angeles County prepared by the Los Angeles County Office of Child Protection, June 2017. Retrieved at https://www.propel.la/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Paving-the-Road-to-Safetv-for-our-Children.pdf.
- 82 Ibid.
- ⁸³The Road to Safety for Our Children: Final Report of the Los Angeles County Blue Ribbon Commission on Child Protection issued April 18, 2014. Retrieved at http://casala.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/BRCCP_Final_Report_April_18_2014.pdf
- 84http://dhs.lacounty.gov/wps/portal/dhs/!ut/p/b1/04_Sj9Q1MjQxNLI0NDYz0o_Qj8pLLMtMTyzJ zM9LzAHxo8zi3QwMDNz9nYKN3N39DQwcQy2M_P08PY39Q82BCiKRFViYjkZOBqYmPpbeJgYOpsaENIfrh9FSAl-Bb4m6ArQ3WBKSIEBVIEBDuBooO_nkZbqp8blWPpmempCwCbFy8G/dl4/d5/L2dJQSEvUUt3QS80SmtFL1o2X0YwMDBHT0JTMkdHTzA w0VU4Mk9OSUkzT0o3/
- 85https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/presentation/1781/2d0a1fadf3dba068986760ef8c395d200b7 1.pdf
- 86Child Death Review Team Report 2016 published by the Los Angeles County Inter-Agency Council on Child Abuse and Neglect Multi-Agency Child Death Review Team. Retrieved at
- http://ican4kids.org/Images/Reports/Child%20Death%20Review/CDR%202016.pdf
- 87http://dhs.lacounty.gov/wps/portal/dhs/!ut/p/b1/04_Sj9Q1MjQxNLI0NDYz0o_Qj8pLLMtMTyzJzM9LzAHxo8zi3QwMDNz9nYKN3N39DQwcQy2M_P08PY39Q831w_WjCCnJjfJyBABY8a50/
- ⁸⁸ Child Welfare Policy Manual published by the Los Angeles County Department of Children and Family Services related to Medical Hubs (0600-500.00), revised May 24, 2016. Retrieved at http://policy.dcfs.lacounty.gov/default.htm#Utilization_of_Medical_H.htm#MedicalHubs
- 89 Ibid.
- ⁹⁰ Child Welfare Policy Manual published by the Los Angeles County Department of Children and Family Services related to Medical Hubs (0600-500.00), revised May 24, 2016. Retrieved at http://policy.dcfs.lacounty.gov/default.htm#Utilization_of_Medical_H.htm#MedicalHubs
- 91Ibid.
- 92Ibid.
- 93 Ibid.
- ⁹⁴ August 30,.2019 memo from retired Judge Michael Nash in his capacity as Executive Director of the Office of Child Protection to County of Los Angeles Supervisors. Retrieved at http://file.lacounty.gov/SDSInter/bos/supdocs/140512.pdf.
- 95 LA County budget process concludes with adoption of \$36.1 billion supplemental budget: Budget expands funding to combat homelessness and enhances child protection. Retrieved at https://www.lacounty.gov/budget/.
- 96 http://dcfs.co.la.ca.us/news/documents/DCFS%20News%20Summer%20Issue%202003.pdf
- ⁹⁷ Child Maltreatment 2017, Table 3-6 Victims by Age, 2017.
- 98 *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table C-2 Child Population, 2013–2017.

- ⁹⁹ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3-1 Children Who Received an Investigation or Alternative Response, 2013-2017.
- 100 Senate Bill 782 http://mlis.state.md.us/2005rs/billfile/sb0782.htm
- House Bill 790 signed into law April 8, 2008 retrieved at http://mgaleg.maryland.gov/pubs/legislegal/2008rs-laws-maryland-vol-001.pdf
- ¹⁰² The Maryland Child Abuse Medical Providers' (CHAMP) Network, Maryland Department of Health. Retrieved at https://phpa.health.maryland.gov/mch/Pages/MDChamp.aspx
- ¹⁰³ Maryland Child Abuse Medical Professionals (CHAMP), University of Maryland Children's Hospital retrieved at https://www.umms.org/childrens/health-services/child-protection/champ.
- ¹⁰⁴ Article 13-2201-2206, Annotated Code of Maryland
- http://mgaleg.maryland.gov/webmga/frmStatutesText.aspx?article=gfl§ion=5-7A-02&ext=html&session=2017RS&tab=subject5
- ¹⁰⁶ Citizens Review Board for Children, Maryland Department of Human Services, retrieved at http://dhr.maryland.gov/citizens-review-board-for-children/md-state-cps-panels/
- 107 Maryland's State Council on Child Abuse and Neglect Annual Report covering January 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014.
- ¹⁰⁸Maryland's State Council on Child Abuse and Neglect Annual Report covering January 1, 2016 through December 31, 2016, pages 40-41.
- 109 Child Maltreatment Medical Consultation Referral Guidelines retrieved at https://phpa.health.maryland.gov/mch/Pages/MDChamp_Referral_Guidelines.aspx
- http://mgaleg.maryland.gov/webmga/frmStatutesText.aspx?article=ghg§ion=13-2207&ext=html&session=2018RS&tab=subject5
- ¹¹¹https://phpa.health.maryland.gov/mch/Documents/CommemorativeBirthCertificateBrochure.p df
- http://mgaleg.maryland.gov/webmga/frmStatutesText.aspx?article=gfl§ion=5-712&ext=html&session=2017RS&tab=subject5
- ¹¹³ State of Maryland, State Medical Director, Children Receiving Child Welfare Services, Recruitment #18-004609-0010. Retrieved https://www.jobapscloud.com/MD/sup/bulpreview.asp?R1=18&R2=004609&R3=0010.
- ¹¹⁴ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3–6 Victims by Age, 2017.
- ¹¹⁵ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table C-2 Child Population, 2013–2017.
- ¹¹⁶ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3-1 Children Who Received an Investigation or Alternative Response, 2013-2017.
- 117 https://health.mo.gov/living/families/injuries/safecare/index.php
- 118 https://www.missourikidsfirst.org/our-work/
- 119 https://legiscan.com/MO/text/HB1877/2016
- 120 https://house.mo.gov/billtracking/bills181/hlrbillspdf/2010H.06T.pdf
- ¹²¹ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3–6 Victims by Age, 2017.
- ¹²² *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table C-2 Child Population, 2013–2017.

- ¹²³ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3-1 Children Who Received an Investigation or Alternative Response, 2013-2017.
- ¹²⁴ ftp://www.njleg.state.nj.us/19981999/PL98/19_.PDF
- Regional Diagnostic Treatment Centers, State of New Jersey Department of Children and Families retrieved at https://www.nj.gov/dcf/providers/resources/regional/
- 126 https://www.cooperhealth.edu/sites/edu/files/PDFs/CAP_2018_Online_FINAL.pdf
- ¹²⁷ Note there are 21 counties in New Jersey.
- ¹²⁸ Request for Proposals for Regional Diagnostic Treatment Center Services issued March 6, 2015 retrieved at https://www.state.nj.us/dcf/providers/notices/RFP_RDTC.pdf
- ¹²⁹ Ibid.
- ¹³⁰ Questions and Answers in response to Request for Proposals for Regional Diagnostic Treatment Center Services issued March 6, 2015 retrieved at https://www.state.nj.us/dcf/providers/notices/QA_RDTC.RFP.pdf
- 131 https://www.state.nj.us/dcf/policy_manuals/CPP-II-C-2-625_issuance.shtml
- $^{\rm 132}$ http://newjersey.gov/dcf/providers/boards/childadvocacy/CAC-MDT%20Minutes%206-1-18_Final.pdf
- 133 https://www.nj.gov/dcf/providers/resources/regional/
- ¹³⁴ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3–6 Victims by Age, 2017.
- ¹³⁵ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table C-2 Child Population, 2013–2017.
- ¹³⁶ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3-1 Children Who Received an Investigation or Alternative Response, 2013-2017.
- 137 https://www.med.unc.edu/cmep/
- ¹³⁸ Child medical evaluation program: A statewide system for the medical and mental health evaluation of abused and neglected children published in Forensic Science International Volume 30, Issues 2–3, February–March 1986, Pages 119-126.
- ¹³⁹ Child Welfare Manual issued by the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services retrieved at https://www2.ncdhhs.gov/info/olm/manuals/dss/csm-60/man/CS1422.PDF
- 140 https://www.med.unc.edu/pediatrics/specialties/generalpeds/child-maltreatment
- 141 https://www.med.unc.edu/cmep/
- 142 https://www2.ncdhhs.gov/info/olm/manuals/dss/csm-60/man/CS1422.PDF
- 143 https://www.med.unc.edu/cmep/cme-provider-guidelines/
- North Carolina Child Medical Evaluation Program presentation by Molly Curtin Berkoff MD, MPH, University of North Carolina –Chapel Hill retrieved at https://www.ncleg.net/DocumentSites/Committees/NCCFTF/Intentional%20Death%20Preven tion/2012-2013/IDPC%20Child%20Medical%20Eval%20Prog%20(CMEP),%20Dr.%20Berkoff,%2012-3-12.pdf
- ¹⁴⁵Child Welfare Manual issued by the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services retrieved at https://www2.ncdhhs.gov/info/olm/manuals/dss/csm-60/man/CS1422.PDF
- ¹⁴⁶ North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services Welcomes Two New Staffers written by Elaine Ellis published on July 26, 2017. Retrieved at http://www.ncmedsoc.org/nc-dhhswelcomes-two-new-staffers/

- ¹⁴⁷ Dr. Elizabeth Cuervo Tilson profile issued by the North Carolina Department of Health and Human Services retrieved at https://www.ncdhhs.gov/elizabeth-cuervo-tilson
- ¹⁴⁸ Session Law 2017-57 (Senate Bill 257) retrieved at https://www.ncleg.net/Sessions/2017/Bills/Senate/PDF/S257v9.pdf
- $^{149}\mbox{https://www2.ncdhhs.gov/dss/pubnotice/docs/2019\%20SBG/SSBG\%20SFY2019\%20Intended} d\%20Use\%20Plan.pdf$
- ¹⁵⁰ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3–6 Victims by Age, 2017.
- ¹⁵¹ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table C-2 Child Population, 2013–2017.
- ¹⁵² *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3-1 Children Who Received an Investigation or Alternative Response, 2013-2017.
- ¹⁵³ 2017 Oregon Revised Statutes, Vol. 10, Chapter 418, Section 418.780 418.780 Purpose
- ¹⁵⁴ 2017 Oregon Revised Statutes, Vol. 10, Chapter 418, Section 418.747
- ¹⁵⁵ 2017 Oregon Revised Statutes, Vol. 10, Chapter 418, Section 418.782
- 1562017 Oregon Revised Statutes, Vol. 10, Chapter 419B.023
- ¹⁵⁷ Karly's Law, Oregon Revised Statutes 419B.022 through 419B.024 retrieved at http://www.doj.state.or.us/victims/pdf/karlys_law_summary.pdf
- ¹⁵⁸ 2017-19 MDT Allocations by County retrieved at https://www.doj.state.or.us/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/2017-19_cami_mdt_allocations.pdf
- ¹⁵⁹ CAMI Regional Service Provider (RSP) 2017-18 Allocations retrieved at https://www.doj.state.or.us/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/2017-2018_cami_rsp_allocations.pdf
- 160 CAMI Regional Service Providers retrieved at https://www.doj.state.or.us/crime-victims/grant-funds-programs/child-abuse-multidisciplinary-intervention-cami-fund/cami-regional-service-providers/
- ¹⁶¹ Child Maltreatment 2017, Table 3–6 Victims by Age, 2017.
- ¹⁶² *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table C-2 Child Population, 2013–2017.
- ¹⁶³ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3-1 Children Who Received an Investigation or Alternative Response, 2013-2017.
- ¹⁶⁴ South Carolina Children's Advocacy Medical Response System (SCCAMRS) website, https://www.sccamrs.org/
- ¹⁶⁵ SECTION 63-11-410. South Carolina Children's Advocacy Medical Response System.
- ¹⁶⁶ Child Maltreatment Protocol issued as part of the South Carolina Children's Advocacy Medical Response System retrieved at https://www.sccamrs.org/protocol.asp
- ¹⁶⁷ Healthcare Providers Directory last updated May 2, 2018 retrieved at https://www.sccamrs.org/fileassets/Public_list_HCP_directory_2018_05_02.pdf
- ¹⁶⁸ South Carolina Department of Social Services Human Services Policy and Procedure Manual, CHAPTER 7, Child Protective and Preventive Services, page 78.
- ¹⁶⁹ Section 63-7-910. Duties of the department.
- ¹⁷⁰ H. 4950, General Appropriations Bill for Fiscal Year 2018-2019, Section 20 University of South Carolina. Retrieved at https://www.scstatehouse.gov/sess122_2017-2018/appropriations2018/tap1b.htm#s20

- ¹⁷¹ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3–6 Victims by Age, 2017.
- ¹⁷² *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table C-2 Child Population, 2013–2017.
- ¹⁷³ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3-1 Children Who Received an Investigation or Alternative Response, 2013-2017.
- ¹⁷⁴ Senate Bill No. 6 enacted in 2005 retrieved at http://www.legis.state.tx.us/tlodocs/79R/billtext/html/SB00006F.HTM
- ¹⁷⁵ Pediatric Centers of Excellence Advisory Committee Findings and Recommendations submitted January 7, 2009, page 3 retrieved at https://www.dshs.state.tx.us/legislative/PCOE Report.pdf.
- ¹⁷⁶ The Forensic Assessment Center Network website retrieved at https://www.facntx.org/Public/About.aspx
- ¹⁷⁷ Texas Senate Bill No. 758 enacted in May 2007 retrieved at http://www.legis.state.tx.us/tlodocs/80R/billtext/pdf/SB00758F.pdf#navpanes=0
- ¹⁷⁸ Pediatric Centers of Excellence Advisory Committee Findings and Recommendations submitted January 7, 2009, page 3.
- ¹⁷⁹ Senate Bill 2080 as approved by the Texas Legislature on June 1, 2009. Retrieved at http://www.legis.state.tx.us/tlodocs/81R/billtext/html/SB02080F.HTM
- Medical Child Abuse Resource and Education System Biennial Report 2017-2018 published by the Texas Department of Health Services, revised September 2019. Retrieved at https://www.dshs.texas.gov/mch/medcares.shtm/
- ¹⁸¹ Ibid.
- ¹⁸² Request for Applications (RFA) for Texas Medical Child Abuse Resources and Education System (RFA No. HHS0000436) released October 29, 2018. Retrieved at https://apps.hhs.texas.gov/PCS/HHS0000436/HHSTX-hhs0000436-RFA-MEDCARES-OE.pdf.
- ¹⁸³ Ibid.
- Medical Child Abuse Resource and Education System Biennial Report 2017-2018 published by the Texas Department of Health Services, revised September 2019. Retrieved at https://www.dshs.texas.gov/mch/medcares.shtm/bid.
- ¹⁸⁵ Ibid.
- ¹⁸⁶ Ibid.
- ¹⁸⁷ Ibid.
- ¹⁸⁸ Child Protective Services Handbook (2137 Making a Referral to the Forensic Assessment Center Network) published by the Texas Department of Family and Protective Services, updated May 2019. Retrieved at https://www.dfps.state.tx.us/handbooks/CPS/default.asp.
- 189 Ibid.
- ¹⁹⁰ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3–6 Victims by Age, 2017.
- ¹⁹¹ *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table C-2 Child Population, 2013–2017.
- ¹⁹² *Child Maltreatment* 2017, Table 3-1 Children Who Received an Investigation or Alternative Response, 2013-2017.
- 193 Pennsylvania operates what the Pennsylvania Department of Human Services (PA DHS) describes as an "alternative response" where certain reports are classified as General Protective Services (GPS). GPS reports often trigger a legally required assessment of the child or family. To date, Pennsylvania has not reported data about the number of GPS assessments or related

outcomes (e.g., validated or invalid) within the data submitted to The National Child Abuse and Neglect Data System (NCANDS). As a result, the data within the annual Child Maltreatment, which was the source of the above chart, does not provide a reliable measure of the number or rate of children in Pennsylvania receiving an investigation or alternative response. Additionally, variation in state definitions of child abuse and neglect assures that what some states might capture as neglect is instead categorized as a GPS case in Pennsylvania. These factors then should be understood when comparing Pennsylvania's data to national or another state's data reported within Child Maltreatment.

- ¹⁹⁴ Pennsylvania House of Representatives Legislative Journal for October 5, 1993, page 1863. Retrieved at https://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/HJ/1993/0/19931005.pdf#page=6.
- 195 Ibid.
- ¹⁹⁶http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/Legis/LI/uconsCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&yr=2006&sessIn d=0&smthLwInd=0&act=179
- ¹⁹⁷ Pennsylvania Domestic Relations Code, Title 23, § 6368. Investigation of reports. Retrieved at https://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/CT/PDF/23/23.PDF.
- ¹⁹⁸ Title 23, § 6378. Purchase of services.
- ¹⁹⁹ Draft submission of Allegheny County Department of Human Services in response to Fiscal Year 2020-21 Needs-Based Plan & Budget Template. Retrieved at https://www.alleghenycounty.us/Human-Services/About/Plans-and-Budgets.aspx.
- ²⁰⁰ http://dhs.phila.gov/intranet/pgintrahome_pub.nsf/Content/Safety+Net+Action+Plan+-+Nurses
- ²⁰¹ https://healthfederation.org/FamilyCase
- ²⁰² Child Protection in Pennsylvania: Proposed Recommendations, Report of the Task Force on Child Protection published November 2012. Retrieved at http://www.childprotection.state.pa.us/
- ²⁰³Act 1 of 2013 (Institution of Higher Education Monetary Penalty Endowment Act) retrieved at http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/Legis/LI/uconsCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&yr=2013&sessIn d=0&smthLwInd=0&act=1
- 204 Act 28 of 2014 http://www.legis.state.pa.us/cfdocs/Legis/LI/uconsCheck.cfm?txtType=HTM&yr=2014&sessIn d=0&smthLwInd=0&act=28
- ²⁰⁵ https://www.pccd.pa.gov/Funding/Pages/Grants-App.aspx
- ²⁰⁶ Adams County Children's Advocacy Center Annual Report 2016-2017 retrieved at https://www.kidsagaincac.org/financials_3_2466149008.pdf
- ²⁰⁷ Fiscal Year 2019-20 Needs-Based Plan & Budget submitted by Cambria County on August 28, 2018.
- Mission Kids 2017 Annual Report http://missionkidscac.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Mission-Kids-Annual-Report-PDF-For-Website-Use.pdf
- ²⁰⁹ Philadelphia Children's Alliance 2017 Annual Report http://www.philachildrensalliance.org/annual-report
- ²¹⁰ Fiscal Year 2019-20 Needs-Based Plan & Budget submitted by Washington County on August 20, 2018, page 25.

²¹¹ Fiscal Year 2019-20 Needs-Based Plan & Budget submitted by Lancaster County on August 15, 2018, page 31.

Pennsylvania Crime Victims Act retrieved at https://www.legis.state.pa.us/WU01/LI/LI/US/HTM/1998/0/0111..HTM